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MESSAGE FROM  
CHIEF & COUNCIL

Ey swayel tsel Xwelmexw. Ey chap te sqwalewel.

We are honored that the dedicated staff have provided an update on Sts’ailes progress for fiscal 
year 2017-2018. We have made great strides and learned a great deal along the way. We raise 
our hands to the hard work of our people for our people.

The work we do as Council members is woven in the tradition of letsemot Sts’ailes Ikwelo – we 
work together in unison. This is the foundation of our process. This includes engaging with the 
community for direction, and the staff have done an excellent job throughout the years.

We engage with the community based on what our citizens, the people, say what community 
engagement looks like. There are many initiatives underway that we are eager to share so 
we encourage you to come to Sts’ailes events, especially the Community Open Houses 
and Stelmexw Stl’awtxw Gatherings, which are centered on community engagement and 
celebrating who we are as Sts’ailes.

Your work as citizens and our work as elected leaders, go hand-in-hand so that we may 
continue making Sts’ailes a better place to live for generations to come.  

Yalh yexw kw’es hoy, 

Chief Ralph Leon

Sherry Point

Chadley Paul

Cheryl Charlie

Kelsey Charlie

Tim Felix

Daryl Francis

Boyd Peters

Sherylynn Crispin
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MESSAGE FROM  
THE CAO
I was hired in February 2017 as the Chief Administrative Officer, and I was given some clear priorities 

from Chief & Council: 

1. To strengthen Sts’ailes financial practices.

2. To promote Lets’mot throughout the organization.

3. To ensure culturally appropriate services and practices are embedded in Sts’ailes programs  

and services

4. To focus on our Most Precious Resources “Our Children and Youth” by promoting youth 

leadership, mentoring young people, and supporting youth recreation and sports.

5. Council also expressed a desire to promote sports. In 2017 Sts’ailes did not have a men’s or 

women’s soccer team, we did not have a men’s or youth canoe club. At one time Sts’ailes was 

recognized for our championship Canoe Club and winning Mens and Women’s soccer teams.

Terri Mulden was hired as a Finance Comptroller to support the Finance Department and to help 

strengthen our financial practices by expanding on our use of “Xyntax”, our computer software 

system, to further meet our needs.

Through Strategic Planning Sessions, the D/O’s (Directors and Officers) acknowledged and 

honoured the many accomplishments that have been achieved. They also identified gaps that need 

to be filled to strengthen our work going forward.

Furthermore, Sts’ailes has many opportunities as a result of our assertion in our Traditional Territory. 

We continue to work diligently with BC on a “RA” Reconciliation Agreement.

In July 2018, 94% of voters voted in favour of Sts’ailes Land Code, which gives us the right to develop 

our own laws and take back responsibility for 34 sections of the Indian Act from the Department 

of Indigenous Services. Sts’ailes has also started the process of Grant Funding (10-year funding 

agreement) that is a stepping stone to increasing flexibility and predictability in funding from 

Canada. 

Council requested a report “10 Year Check-In” on the Sts’ailes Development Corporation and Kandice 

Charlie, Project Coordinator, did an amazing job on the report which has been shared with Council at 

their November Planning Session, and at the Community at the Open House on November 21st.

I am confident that Sts’ailes has very competent, Culturally Strong, and dedicated staff who commit 

to doing things “The Sts’ailes Way”. 

WILLIE CHARLIE  |  Chaquawet 
Chief Administrative Officer 
Sts’ailes
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
EDUCATION DIRECTOR

The Sts’ailes Education Department continues to enjoy tremendous success in all areas. 
Our students are gaining valuable knowledge in the academic, personal growth, cultural 
and language programs. It is humbling to witness the excitement in a child’s eyes when they 
are reading new books, speaking Halq’emeylem, completing a challenging physical task or 
exploring their acting skills. The varied programs and committed staff have truly set the 
foundation for learning. 

The department has also experienced tremendous facility growth. The school added a new 
cultural education classroom, a new Lalem classroom and a new mechanics shop. These 
expansions allowed for a new 150 seat commercial grade cafeteria next to the gymnasium. 
This will serve the school lunch program as well as our many community events.

Sts’ailes Post Secondary has experienced tremendous growth in the number of community 
members enrolling in college and university. The gifts and expertise that these community 
members will bring into the community will benefit all families.  

The Sts’ailes Early Ed centre is also experiencing positive growth. A new K4 classroom will 
allow for the expansion of the infant/toddler program. Several staff are currently attending 
college to complete their ECE diploma. This will assist the Centre in removing the current 
waitlist. 

The newly developed department Mission Statement reads;

“Sts’ailes Community School inspires and empowers students to explore their cultural, 
academic, and social-emotional world and to strive to achieve their personal best while 

becoming happy, respectful, responsible and confident community leaders.“

 
 
This truly reflects what the department is all about. However, it takes a team approach to truly 
meet the needs of learners, and it is this team approach with school, parents, community and 
council that has resulted in an amazing education experience for all children. 

 

WILLIAM DIETRICH  |  Nanuqw’tel 
Education Director
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EARLY EDUCATION CENTRE COMMUNITY SCHOOL POST SECONDARY

EDUCATION
education for all ages

EDUCATION

SCS PRINCIPAL  

Bill Dietrich

Nanuqw’tel

EDUCATION

The SEEC continues to grow and 
thrive with new programs and exciting 
opportunities for children from the 
ages of 6 months to 4 years. This 
picture shows our K4 graduating 
class.

SEEC enrolment has continued to 
grow and plans are underway to add 
a new K4 building and to expand the 
infant and toddler programs. 

The focus of the SEEC is to prepare 
children for their kindergarten to 

STS'AILES EARLY EDUCATION CENTRE

STS'AILES COMMUNITY SCHOOL

It's been a very busy year in 
Kindergarten! We have had lots of fun 
learning and exploring. Through our 
Read Well Program, we learned letter 
names, sounds, blending sounds and 
reading “tricky” words. Each unit 
brings exciting stories, information, 
catchy songs and rhymes. It is exciting 
to see the growth the students have 
made in their reading over the school 
year.

Our Math program, Number Worlds, 
has the students exploring different 
concepts of math in an engaging and 
hands-on manner. The students rotate 
in small groups in the morning. Using 
games, manipulatives and visual 
cues, the students are able to see the 
math come to life. We have connected 
technology with our math learning as 
well. We use computer Math programs 

KINDERGARTEN

GRADE ONE

The grade 1’s have been busy learning 
through many fun and exciting 
projects. We have made ice cream, 
grown strawberry plants, carved 
pumpkins and made a wide variety 
of arts and crafts. The students have 
made progress in many important 
language arts and math skills.

Throughout the year, we got to go 
on many exciting field trips including 

the Chilliwack Pumpkin Patch, Kilby 
Museum, Bridal Falls, Harrison beach 
and the Vancouver Zoo. We finished 
off the year with a week of swimming 
lessons at the Agassiz pool. The grade 
1’s really enjoyed our monthly Art 
days!

The students worked very hard with 
Sarah and Mrs. Murphy learning all 
about identifying and expressing their 

to engage students and practice the 
skills they have been taught.

Science and Social Studies have been 
the highlight of our year! We had 
so much fun delving into the topics 
introduced in Read Well. We learned 
all about worms, even creating our 
own worm habitat with real worms! 
We learned about creatures under 
the sea and discovered some new 
and amazing facts. Our yearly visit to 
the zoo helped to solidify our learning 
about animals. We learned about 
families and what it means to be a 
family. We created Family Trees and 
practiced our printing and spelling 
skills by creating a family book. Our 
safety unit included a trip to the Fire 
Hall to learn all about fire safety. We 
even borrowed their school tub and 
dressed like real firefighters!

Culture, P.E. and Dino school continue 
to be class flavourites. We learned 
how to keep our bodies healthy, many 
different aspects of sports, safety and 
fair play. Culture allowed the students 
to learn more about their culture and 
language. They created beautiful 
artwork and designs. Dino School 
with Sarah taught the students about 
their comfortable and uncomfortable 
feelings; The Red Cross Sexual Abuse 
Prevention Program; and finding 
appropriate solutions for problems.

Overall, the year has been full of 
wonderful and exciting experiences. It 
was so rewarding to see the growth in 
all the students and to be a part of this 
amazing school community.

feelings and how this relates to the 
Zones of Regulation and Dinosaur 
school. The grade 1’s are always using 
their manners and are very keen on 
helping others out. The grade 1’s have 
had such an exciting year and they 
have grown so much! What a fantastic 
year of learning!

grade 12 experience. Students develop 
social and physical skills and build a 
foundation for reading and counting. 
The centre also provides language and 
cultural teachings and the K4 program 
is 50% language immersion. This 
opportunity provides a foundation for 
language development that is carried 
over to the kindergarten program. 

The SEEC is a wonderful place for 
children and families. The children 
host their families for special events 
and holiday celebrations. 
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officer. He told us about becoming a 
police office and that he works with 
nine different reserves from Hope to 
Fort Langley.

We learned about other community 
helpers and what our jobs are at 
home. The Grade 2 students collected 
the most batteries and got a great ice 
cream reward! Thank you Leadership 
students for collecting the batteries 
and recycling them. Great job to all 
those who participated in collecting 
old batteries.

As always, it seems, this school year 
has passed very quickly for the Grade 
3 class. There has been an emphasis 
on striving to make the biggest gains 
possible in students’ reading, writing, 
and math skills and the progress has 
been great! Students have learned 
several writing tools to improve their 
writing, including using similes and 
the new vocabulary words we study 
each week. There’s never been a grade 
3 class more excited about analysing 
their writing and finding ways to 
incorporate new vocabulary!

Science experiments and 
demonstrations are always a popular 
and engaging way to learn about the 

GRADE THREE

GRADE FOUR & FIVE

GRADE FIVE & SIX

world around them and students loved 
the various explorations we did over 
the year, including during our UBC 
science camps. We really enjoyed 
our field trip to the Othello Tunnels 
in Hope where students learned 
about the history of the railway 
and appreciated the tremendous 
challenge of building a track through 
the mountains of granite and the 
forbidding wilderness in this area. 
As well, students observed the 

The grade 4/5’s cannot believe 
that the end of the school year is 
approaching so quickly. It has been 
a great year that has been filled with 
challenges and excitement. We have 
covered a lot of material and have 
gotten the opportunity to participate 
in many fun projects. Such as a Pen 
Pal Writing Project and making our 

Here are our beliefs  we developed 
together to remind ourselves of our 
purpose and our goals all year:

RESPECT: We respect ourselves and 
others. We build trust with each other.

BELONGING: We accept and include 
others. We create a peaceful 
classroom where everyone can 
belong.

GRADE TWO

The Grade 2 students have had a 
great year of learning to add and 
subtract with regrouping. Keep 
practicing adding and subtracting to 
99; count to 999; write numbers in 
expanded form and skip count. Keep 
practicing adding money, specifically, 
nickels, dimes and pennies.  We have 
practiced simple problem solving 
strategies. Continue skip counting by 
2's, 5's, 10's and 3's.

We have read many stories in our 
Reading Mastery classes and learned 
about writing proper sentencing. 

We have learned about a fly named 
Herman, who traveled around the 
world; a Great War between Troy and 
Greece; sisters who had to survive 
on an island for three weeks; ships, 
tugboats, docks, harbours, gates and 
airports.

We learned about animals and 
their needs; air and water and their 
importance to all living things; and 
matter is all around us. We studied 
rules and responsibilities and had a 
visit from Constable Alistair Peers, 
who talked to us about being a police 

awesome forces of water at work as 
the Coquihalla River has carved its 
way through solid granite over the 
centuries. At our stop at Kawkawa 
Lake, students saw first-hand the 
natural biodiversity of the local area, 
applying this knowledge to becoming 
biodiversity photographers in the 
forest areas around our school. We 
will end the year with a fun trip to the 
waterslides to celebrate our hard work 
throughout the year

GROWTH MINDSET: We are 
responsible for our learning and we 
believe our intelligence can grow. We 
encourage and inspire each other to 
meet our goals.

COOPERATION: We work together as a 
team and listen to each other.

SAFETY: We take care of our bodies, 
beliefs and feelings.

EDUCATION EDUCATION

own classroom newspaper which will 
end the writing projects for the year. 
We were lucky enough to go to the 
Fraser River Discovery Centre and 
had several guests come to the class: 
which included Chief Ralph Leon, 
parents, an artist and Students from 
UBC who came to share science and 
engineering with us.

It has been my pleasure getting to 
know your child this school year. 
Having your parental support was 
an essential part of the year. Your 
dedication and support has not gone 
unnoticed.

Thanks again for a wonderful year and 
have a fantastic summer!
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We are respectful, inclusive, 
cooperative and safe learners! We 
are dedicated learners who strive for 
growth in everything we do. We are 
ready to take on new challenges with 
confidence.

Some notable achievements of our 
incredible year include:

• Improving our critical thinking by 
building our questioning skills and 

by sharing different viewpoints

• Writing complete paragraphs 
and using the writing process to 
edit and revise our work before 
publishing

• Using technology to enhance our 
learning

• Building our organizational skills 
and student preparedness

GRADE SIX

ART & DRAMA 

As the oldest elementary grade at 
Sts’ailes Community School, the 
grade six class has worked incredibly 
hard this school year. Together, we 
have strengthened our talents and 
skills as well as created connections 
with one another that will last a 
lifetime.

Throughout the year, our grade 6 
class has grown so much! We have 
studied, in depth, numerous topics 
and curiosities as well as practiced our 
academic requirements in a fun and 
open classroom atmosphere. Through 
classroom discussions, projects, 
experiments, and assignments, we 
have become more aware of our 
personal interests and abilities.

We are very proud of the artistic 
experiences we provided for our 
students this year! They were exposed 
to numerous creative mediums 
that gave them the opportunity to 
showcase their seemingly endless 
talents! Each month, a morning was 
set-aside for students to work in 
small groups on an age appropriate 
challenging project involving fine 
arts. Students received lessons in 
printmaking, drumming, beading, 
painting, polymer clay, movie making, 
First Nations drawing and crafts, as 
well as a wide assortment of other 
projects. In addition to our monthly 
fine arts days, each class also 

received an entire term of weekly 
drama classes. The overarching 
theme for all the classes in drama this 
year was for students to demonstrate 
how to use their bodies and voices 
in a performance arts capacity to 
communicate and understand the 
world around them.

One of our most noteworthy projects 
this year was a cross curricular 
collaboration with Ms. Smoke’s social 
studies class. Students used what 
they learned in drama to create a 
movie that captured what it was like 
for First Nations communities in 
Canada when the Indian Act banned 

EDUCATION EDUCATION

• Becoming better communicators 
and problem solvers

• Being mindful of our personal well-
being by using coping strategies

• Creating a safe environment in 
which everyone can thrive

the Potlatch celebration. We intend 
to continue to use drama as a means 
of creating memorable learning 
experiences for our students in the 
future.

A new addition to our school this year 
was the gardening club. Students took 
their artistic abilities outdoors where 
they learned how to germinate herbs 
from seeds, design large and small 
planters and how to water and care for 
the plants once they are established. 
We think they further add to the 
beauty of our already beautiful school!
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SCS LEADERSHIP GROUP HALQ’EMEYLEM - MS. JOSEPH'S CLASSROOM

Goals

The leadership program is based 
on students exploring real-world 
challenges. Students develop action 
plans to implement locally and 
globally. Students from grade 9-12 
work together to make a positive 
impact through volunteering, 
fundraising, and raising awareness.

Our Beliefs

We are capable of doing more together 
than we are alone. Every student/
person has unique gifts and is able to 
contribute in their own way. Moving 
from Me to We is believing that we are 
all one and the sum is greater than 
the parts. Seeing the world as cyclical 
we can understand “If everything has 
spirit and knowledge, then all are like 
me. If all are like me, then all are my 
relations.” (Little Bear,2000).

Volunteering

We started the year with donating 
our time to learning basic leadership 
skills. Students discussed issues such 
as blame, vulnerability, courage, and 
compassion. Students’ took on their 
first campaign on Halloween, We 
Scare Hunger. Leadership was able to 
collect food donations that were then 
distributed to the elders committee, 
along with the food donations 
collected at Christmas. Leadership 
had the pleasure of serving the elders 
at the Christmas Elders Luncheon. 
Throughout the year students’ hosted 
many fundraisers; such as bake sales, 
popcorn days, and concessions.

Impacts - Goals Met

100 Care packages for youth at the 
Cyrus Centre. Our leadership students 
valued this program because it 

provides shelter and warm centre for 
youth and young adults ages 12-24. 
Students gave these youth essential 
personal hygienic products, warm 
clothing, and made a hot lunch.

$500 donated in Micro loans through 
Kiva. Students chose Livestock, 
which would have the potential 
to dramatically increase farming 
incomes to a person in Madagascar, 
Africa.

Zinc saves lives battery recycling 
campaign. This campaign helps 
provide life-saving treatments to 
children in Kenya, while ensuring 
batteries are kept out of Canadian 
landfills.

Goals

• Learn the phonetic alphabet
• Learn basic conversational phrases
• Expand vocabulary
• Learn basic grammar
• Language appreciation

 
Background

Halq’eméylem is the language of the 
Sts’ailes people. There are twenty-
four First Nation communities located 
between Yale to Langley. There 
are four dialects in Halq’eméylem 
which are Pelólhxw-Pilalt, Teit, 
Sts’ailes-Chehalis, and Ts’elxweyeqw- 
Chilliwack. 

Halq’eméylem is nearing extinction. 
Only a few people in St’ailes are fluent 
in Halq’eméylem. It is important 
that Sts’ailes empowers students 
and contributes to the growth and 
sustainability of the Halq’eméylem 
language. Our aim is to aid in 
revitalization of the language and in 
preserving the culture of the Sts’ailes 
people. The study of Halq’eméylem 
is fundamental to personal growth 
and cultural enrichment. Learning 
the Halq’eméylem language and 
about Sts’ailes culture will enable 
students to notice the similarities and 
differences between Halq’eméylem 
and other cultures, and to gain respect 
for all cultures. Students will learn to 
critically think about Halq’eméylem 
and how the language contributes to 
the development of knowledge, skills, 
and attitudes that will allow  students 
to discover their own identity.

Participation

Students from grades 9-12 had the 
privilege of competing in the annual 
Halq’eméylem language contest. This 
year our Division C group (Grades 
9-12) won first place. Students from 
grades 9-12 hosted a language fun 

fair for the elementary grades from 
K-6, senior students were able to 
teach basic vocabulary and engage 
the youngers grades in games and 
activities that enhance their basic 
language skills.

Language Appreciation

All too often students ask “why do 
I have to learn this?” My response 
is based on the belief that once 
students’ have critical thinking tools 
they can answer that question on their 
own. Critical thinking tools come from 
the six Historical Thinking Concepts:

Historical Perspective - How was the 
language viewed in the past? 

Cause and Consequence - Residential 
Schools and their tie to language 

Evidence and Interpretation - 
Government involvement in First 

Nations Languages 

Historical Significance - How does    
language shape our worldview 

Ethical Judgement - Oral vs. Written

Change and Continuity - How has 
our language changed or stayed 
the same over time? People that 
have help develop and maintain the 
Halq’eméylem language.

Accomplishments

We know 52 letters in the alphabet, 
we have gained knowledge in basic 
grammar, we can count to 100, we 
can introduce ourselves to others, 
and we have significantly added to 
our vocabulary. This year has been an 
amazing journey, students from grade 
9-12 have all worked very hard to lay 
the foundation to bring this beautiful 
language to life.
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MATH - MS. JOSEPH'S CLASSROOM SECONDARY - MR. McMASTER

SECONDARY - SOCIAL STUDIES SECONDARY - VISUAL ARTS

Math 8-12

Looking at math through a new lens. 
Each grade may have different goals 
/ curriculum; however, each grade 
has consistently shown growth and 
literacy. Math is used in everyday 
life and is one of the only subjects 
that is the same in every country. 
Math can be used in any occupation. 
Students are curious, active learners 
with individual interests, abilities and 
needs. They come to classrooms with 
varying knowledge, life experiences 
and backgrounds. Using this 
information I have used a variety of 
problem solving activities to engage 
all learners in the classroom.  Some 
key activities include:

What doesn’t belong (Math visuals)

• Numeracy helps us to see patterns, 
communicate ideas, and solve 
problems

• Logic and patterns to solve games 
and puzzles

Magic numbers (Playing Cards)

• Operations with integers (addition, 
subtraction, multiplication, 
division, and order of operations)

• Develop and apply mental math 
strategies and estimate amounts 
and outcome

• Multiplication and division facts 
to 100 (extending computational 
fluency)

• Classification of numbers as prime 
and composite

The goal is to build confidence, 
empowerment, and relation through 
the use of manipulatives and a variety 
of pedagogical approaches. Having 
a new math problem everyday will 

create an environment that will 
respect the diversity of the students’ 
experiences and ways of thinking.

Manipulatives

Our favorite tools:

• Geoboards - The 7.5 inch square 
is made of plastic. The square is 
a grid made up of 12 by 12 pegs. 
Students stretch rubber bands 
from peg to peg to form geometric 
shapes. 
 
Geoboards can be used to study 
symmetry, congruency, area, and 
perimeter. Students of all ages 
have been respectful and followed 
instruction by avoided flinging 
elastics at each other!

• Pattern Blocks - Consists of blocks 
in six geometric, color-coded 
shapes, referred to as: green 
triangles, orange squares, blue 
parallelograms, tan rhombuses, 
red trapezoids, and yellow 
hexagons. 
 
These features of the Pattern 
Blocks encourage investigation of 
relationships among the shapes. 
Students have been able to develop 

hands-on familiarity and intuition 
about comparing fractions, 
finding equivalent fractions, 
changing improper fractions to 
mixed numbers, and modeling 
addition, subtraction, division, and 
multiplication of fractions (Used to 
help with testing).

• Minitab - Is a statistical software 
that aids in basic statistics. 
Students are able to create graphs 
and formulate an analysis of data 
from a variety of sources. Students 
have used minitab to analyze 
variance, standard deviation, and 
central tendency.

Year Long

A key component in developing 
mathematical literacy is making 
connections to students’ backgrounds 
and experiences. I have used our 
restitution program to find the 
individual needs of each student. 
Some students may need Power, 
Belonging, Freedom, and Fun. 
Students now feel comfortable taking 
intellectual risks, asking questions, 
and develop personal strategies while 
problem solving. I am very proud of all 
the progress made this year.

The Yearbook class has been busily 
working away at this year’s edition, 
having submitted the final copy to the 
publisher at the end of April. Over the 
year, students took pictures at school 
events, designed page layouts and 
maintained the announcement display 
in the secondary hallway. They grew 
their design and photography skill sets 
and further developed their autonomy, 
being independently responsible for 
different parts of the book. We all look 
forward to starting again next year.

The senior Construction class has 
nearly completed the main portion 
of their secondary shop space. Over 
the year, students learned the basics 
of foundations, layout, framing, and 
roofing. They also learned how to 
install doors and windows and use an 
array of hand and power tools. Earlier 
in the year, we built gates and a small 
footbridge as props for the film class. 
As their instructor, I am proud of them 

all. They have all impressed me with 
their skills, work ethic and attitudes in 
this class. Well done everyone!

In 8 – 12 Science, all classes were 
successful in learning about their 
prescribed topics, while improving a 
number of competencies and science 
skills.

Here are some highlights from the 
year:

• Grade 8 - students enjoyed 
dissecting sheep eyes as part of 
their optics unit. More recently, 
they ran plant growth experiments 
of their own design and completed 
lab write-ups to record and present 
their findings.

• Grade 9 - students worked on an 
alternative energy project where 
they made a power generator with a 
stationary exercise bike.

• Grade 10 - have been working on 
physics. Students tracked the 
acceleration of model rockets that 
they built using both video analysis 
and trigonometry and a stopwatch.

• Life Science 11 - students went 
to the Vancouver Aquarium 
via the Westcoast Express and 
public transit. They explored 
all the galleries and completed 
a summative photo-journaling 
assignment where they applied 
their knowledge about the diversity 
of life.

• Anatomy & Physiology 12 - students 
completed a body system project 
where they demonstrated their 
extensive learning about the 
nervous, digestive and excretory 
systems. They also came to the 
Aquarium, exploring the galleries 
along with the Life Science 
students.

This year was a fun year for many 
grades! Grade 7 has the most fun with 
ancient civilizations! Students had 
the task of creating mini art fresco for 
Ancient Greece, working in the style 
of ancient Greek artists! Also, ancient 
Egypt is always fun! This year students 
experimented with mummification 
and created “potato mummies”which 
provided much entertainment for 
all classes! Grade 8 learned all 
about Exploration, from Europe to 
China! Following maps of the earliest 
explorers and learning the “good, the 
bad, and the ugly” about early contact 
in civilizations. Grade 10 finished the 
year with an exciting unit on WWI! This 
was a very stimulating topic and kept 
students interested as they discovered 
the recipe for war. Each grade covered 
many interesting topics including 
current events throughout the year!

This year was an exciting year in art! 
Many students blossomed in their 
artistic skills! Each level of Art had the 
chance to learn how to use different 
mediums such as; charcoal, acrylic 
paint, print making, and ink designs! 
Each student found new skills or 
strengths using the different mediums. 
An exciting end to our year came with 
a visit from a published graphic novel 
writer, Sean Karemaker! Students had 
the chance to discuss experiences and 
express them in art using ink, under 
the guidance of this skilled artist! 
Everyone had a great time!

SECONDARY - ENGLISH

As we approach the end of another 
school year, we reflect back on what we 
have accomplished in class. This year, 
Grades 7-12 have spent the majority 

of their time in English class learning 
about the world, and themselves, 
through story.

In addition to this, Grades 7-10 have 
also taken part in regular Vocabulary 
and Spelling exercises throughout 
the year. Grades 10-12 have been 
busy working on writing mechanics, 
media literacy, and Provincial Exam 
preparation.

EDUCATION EDUCATION
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SECONDARY - CYBER FILM CLASS

THE LALEM PROGRAM

BOX PROGRAM

We find ourselves at the end of our 
second wonderful year of The Sts’ailes 
Community School’s Cyber Film 
Classes. We have been busy this year 
with several filming projects and 
field trips, all the while providing a 
wonderful team-based atmosphere for 
the students.

We have, together, begun to expand 
our knowledge of filmmaking 
techniques. Our productions, shot on 
a combination of IPads, DSLR, and 
drone cameras, continue to combine 
our local natural beauty, while also 
focusing on the traditional storytelling 
features of the Sts’ailes Community.

We have produced several short films 
this year: “The Oracle of the Crystal 
Raven”, “The Secret Ceremony”, 
“Mosquito Lady 2: Rise of the 
Cannibal”, and an important Land Code 
video for the Band Office.

We have also been fortunate enough 
to take some of our students on a few 
fantastic trips. We visited the set of 

Students in the Lalem Program work to 
build basic academic and life skills in 
order to better prepare themselves for 
their future. 

This is the Lalem Program’s 5th year 
running and this year we had 13 full-
time and 2 part-time students. One 
of our students will be graduating on 
June 20, 2018.

Skills Training Program

Our Gr. 10 - 12 students participated 
in the following courses and received 
certification in:

• Culturally Intensive Training (6 
students)

The Box Rocks!

Congratulations Thomas Louie for 
completing the requirements for 
graduation! Wishing you all the best in 
your future endeavors. May your goals 
and dreams become a reality. We are 
so proud of you!

“Wedding March 4” which was filming 
at Sandpiper Golf Course. We took a 
group of students to the Vancouver 
Film School for a tour and workshop. 
We were also lucky enough to have two 

students take a helicopter trip to film a 
scene on a glacier! So, as you can see, 
it has been an exciting and productive 
year for our film students.

• UFV’s Cashier Training (4 students)
• ICBC Defensive Driving (5 students)
• ICBC Learners License (1 student)
• Fork Lift Operator (4 students) 
• St. John’s Emergency First-Aid (5 

students)
 
Work Experience

Our Gr. 10 - 12 students participated in 
work experience in these placements:

• Deroche General Store
• Sts’ailes Store & Gas Bar
• Sts’ailes Community School

 º PE Department
 º Janitor
 º Kitchen
 º Maintenance

NEW THIS YEAR!

Wireless Wednesdays: This year we 
added ‘Wireless Wednesdays’ to 
our weekly schedule. Studies have 
shown that cutting down screen time 
can have a positive effect on kids' 
physical, social, and behavioral well-
being, and can even improve their 
academic performance. Reducing 
time with devices makes it more 
possible to actually spend time 
together interacting and talking to 
each other face-to-face, and can give 
kids more time to go outside and get 
some exercise or read a book. Stop 
by our room on Wednesdays at lunch 
and you’ll find students playing board 
games, drawing, and socializing!

Mindful Mondays: This term we 
added ‘Mindful Mondays’ to our week.
The aim of mindfulness practice is 
to give students tools to help them 
remain calm, sustain their attention 

and to focus more consistently and 
appropriately. We practice mindfulness 
after lunch on Mondays using the 
MindShift app to quiet our bodies 
and our minds for a brief, sustained 

period of time. This tool helps students 
learn how to relax, develop more 
helpful ways of thinking, and includes 
strategies to deal with everyday stress.

The Box Class had 29 part time and 
full time students in Grades 7 to 12 this 
year: 

Grade 7 (4)
Grade 8 (2)
Grade 9 (7)
Grade 10 (5)
Grade 11 (10) 
Grade 12 (1)

69 students in Grades 8 through 12 
completed 132 certificates in Skills 
Training this year. Certificates awarded: 

All Mountain Skills (7)
Glacier Skills (5)
Alpine Skills (6)
Ice Climbing Essentials (6)
VDS Defensive Driving (20)
Cultural Intensive Training (20)

UFV Cashier Training (12)
Fork Lift Training (12)
OFA First Aid (9)
Emergency First Aid (14)
Traffic Control (12)
Discovery Scuba Diving (9)

During Career Week, 55 students in: 

Grade 7 (13)
Grade 8 (20)
Grade 9 (12) 

had participated in career workshops, 
campus tours, and site visits to: 

UBC/NITEP
Addiction Prevention
ISPARC
BC Helicopters

Sts’ailes EAS/SASET
Seabird College
UFV Health
UFV Trades
UFV Indigenous Centre
Kent-Harrison Search & Rescue
Sts’ailes Post-Secondary.

18 Work Experience students were 
placed at various businesses to 
complete 35 hours of work: 

Students in the Box (5)
Grade 10 (4)
Grade 11/12 (8)
Lalem (6)
A & W (4)

EDUCATION EDUCATION
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Mission Humane Society (1)
Sts’ailes Wellness Program (1)
UBC Dairy Research & Ed. Centre (1)
Barceló’s Flamed Grilled Chicken (2)
Deroche General Store (1)
Alpha Games (2)
Red Apple (1)
SCS PE (2)
Valley View Home (1)
London Drugs (1)
SCS Film School (1)

SCS Kindergarten (1)
Sts’ailes Reception (1)
Chehalis Store (2)
SCS Maintenance (1)
 
Thank you for supporting our 
students.

Teacher Adam Palmer’s Outside the 
Box Program has been successful 
in teaching students a variety of 

mountain wilderness skills including 
Avalanche Awareness, Belaying 
Techniques, Rock Climbing, and Ice 
Climbing. Teacher Adam Palmer’s 
final Alpine Lead Climbing Skills trip 
is scheduled for June 12 & 13th at Mt. 
Bardean/Ratney/Stonerabbit Peaks, 
where students will practice and learn 
important skills for travelling in remote 
backcountry areas.

GRADUATING CLASS  

OF 2018

NAUNESS  
DOOL

TRISTON 
STANLEY

DARIUS  
SILVER

THOMAS 
LOUIE

JALISSA 
VINK

JAYDEN 
MCFEDRIES

RONALD 
SMITH-WILLIAMS

ROBERT 
THOMAS

TAMARA 
SCHEELINGS
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FINANCE
Land. People. Culture. Prosperity.

FINANCE

DIRECTOR  

Paul Andrew 
Squa:thom

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS CERTIFICATION ACHIEVED 

We are proud to report that the Sts’ailes achieved Financial Management Systems 
Certification according to the First Nations Fiscal Management Act.  The First 
Nations Financial Management Board certified Sts’ailes as compliant in all material 
respects with the Financial Management Systems Standards on January 26, 2018.  
Norman G. Grdina, CFE, CAFM, FCPA, FCGA, and Director for the First Nations 
Financial Management Board, attended our Sts’ailes Open House on April 4th to 
present the certification.

Having FMS Certification allows us to borrow from the First Nations Finance 
Authority (FNFA) at money market rates for the going rates that bonds receive.  
We have been able to borrow twice now from the FNFA, $13,000,000 in total $3.6 
Million in 2014 for debt refinancing and then in 2017 another $9.4 Million to invest in 
the Bremner Trio Hydro Projects.

In July of 2017, Chief Ralph Leon, CAO Willie Charlie, Education Director Bill Director 
and Finance Director Paul Andrew, traveled to Ottawa to present a proposal to 
monetize capital funding from Indigenous Services Canada to build the School 
expansion.  Although this did not receive 100% success, we had received funding for 
2 thirds of the expansions requested at that time.  We are also still actively waiting 
for ISC to open the monetization of Capital Funds through the 10 Grant Process, 
maybe utilizing a pilot project.

FINANCE

For Sts’ailes  to be one of the first 100 First Nations to receive 
a 10 year grant for funding from  Indigenous Services Canada.

• ISC and the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) co-developed 
the 10-year grant

• The aim is to support First Nations to better manage 
finances over a longer period to meet changing 
community needs

• It is a funding mechanism that aims to provide more 
flexibility and predictability in how a  First Nation uses its 
funding and reduces the amount of reporting

• Accountability for services will change from less than 200 
reports annually to ISC for funding to improved reporting 
to Sts’ailes for services provided to meet Sts’ailes needs

• It is based on existing funding levels but allows First 
Nations to keep unspent funds (no-claw-backs)

First Nations Financial Management Board recommends 
100 qualifying First Nations meeting the Financial 
Management Standards.  

• First Nations must have a Financial Administration Law 
(FAL) under the First Nations Fiscal Management Act or 
a Financial Administration By-Law (FAB) under the Indian 
Act

• The FAL or FAB must meet FMB Standards 

• Submit 5 Years of Audited Financial Statements for FMB’s 
review against financial ratios

• ISC makes the final decision on 10-year Grant eligibility

Proposals are in or being prepared to support the further 
development of the Comprehensive Community Planning 
(CCP) process and to develop a records management 
system for data management previously sent to ISC.  Data 
Management is essential to provide the reporting required to 
be accountable to the Sts’ailes citizens as opposed to ISC.

• Prime Minister Justin Trudeau provided a directive to 
develop anew relationship with First Nations People  
based on recognition of rights, respect, co-operation,  
and partnership.

• 10 Year Grant does not deal with Sufficiency of Funding,  
but it is still an important stepping stone to nation 
building. 

Challenges 

We are anticipating many challenges and attempting to 
acquire resource meet:

1. Developing standards of service which identify effective 
programs

2. Developing standards to identify minimum output criteria 
to meet or surpass ISC expectations in Education and 
Social Development

3. Developing a 10 Year Capital Plan for new projects, 
MAYBE monetize major initiatives so we can build today 
and pay over 10 years.

4. Developing a Capital Asset Management Plan that 
addresses 100% of Maintenance and not based on ACRS 
(ISC Asset Capital Replacement Schedule)

Next Steps & Solutions 

1. Sts’ailes to request the First Nations FMB to review 
Sts’ailes’ FAL, financial performance and financial 
management system and to issue applicable compliance 
opinions and reports in relation to the Board’s Standards 
and the relevant eligibility criteria of the Policy on 
Transfer Payments of the Government of Canada thru a 
Band Council Resolution

2. Prepare negotiations with BC Regional ISC for 10 Year 
grant  

3. Develop 10 year Capital Plan

4. Develop 10 year maintenance Plan

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Meyers Norris Penney LLP (MNP LLP) com presented the 
Consolidated Financial Statements to Council on July 24, 
2018 for the Fiscal Period Ending March 31, 2018. The audit 
was presented as “unqualified” which means to say that 
that there are no qualifying limitations on the Financial 
Statements and they  present fairly in all material respects, 
the Financial Position of Sts’ailes at March 31, 2018 and the 
results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flow 
for the year and ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards.

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) has not yet reviewed the 
our audit and is back logged in excess of 11 months.

10 YEAR GRANT PROCESS 

Canada is proposing to sign a 10 – Year Grant agreement with 100 First Nations 
for funding in April 2019.  This will replace the existing funding contract signed 
with AANDC and may soon include funding from the First Nation Health Authority 
(FNHA) and other branches of the Federal Government.  A long-term goal would 
be a single agreement  or transfer payment system between Canada and Sts’ailes, 
Nation to Nation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of Sts’ailes:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sts'ailes, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated 
surplus, changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Sts'ailes as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards

Chilliwack, British Columbia 
July 23, 2018

1 - 45780 Yale Road, Chilliwack, British Columbia, V2P 2N4, Phone: (604) 792-1915, 1 (800) 444-4070

Chartered Professional Accountants

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

To the Members of Sts'ailes:

Management is responsible for the preperation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgements and estimates in accordance with 

Canadian public sector accounting standards.  This responsibility includes selecting approptriate accounting 

principals and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective 

judgement is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, management 

designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable 

assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained 

to provide reliable information for the preperation of consolidated financial statements.

Sts'ailes Council is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.  

Council fulfils this responsibility by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing 

relevant matters with management and external auditors. Council is also responsible for recommending the 

appointment of the First Nation's external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the Members to audit the consolidated financial statements and report directly to them; 

their report follows.  The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and seperately with, 

both the Council and management to discuss their audit findings.  

July 23, 2018

Chief Administrative Officer Finance Director
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2018 20182018  
BUDGET

SCHEDULES2017 2017

STS'AILES FINANCES

1,738,663
578,269

2,381,173
131,553

3,695,031
1,000

596,862
5,000,000

6,472,901
6,360,198
2,639,919 
1,430,686
1,911,585

32,343
97,357

516,023
435,101
257,701
22,424
15,419

7,760
(80,335)
(48,852)

20,070,230

1,551,888
1,389,001
1,529,017 
1,097,855 
418,800 

1,508,906 
969,416 

5,750,424 
751,294 

4,915,248

 19,881,849 

188,381 
7,513,960 

7,702,341

6,193,356
1,443,901
2,706,442
1,236,343
2,012,336

318,040
31,445

540,576
667,109

-
11,400

-
-
-
-

15,160,948

1,464,265
1,493,367
1,413,812
521,260
280,499

1,663,682
938,461

5,331,722
747,146

-

13,854,214

1,306,734
7,513,960

8,820,694

3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12

592,732
1,834,448
1,558,588

12,918,447
3,061,116

407,839

13,069,968
882,992

13,952,960

14,122,551

20,373,170

(6,250,619)

3,844,112
417,003

2,338,379
122,903
320,038

1,000
581,444

5,000,000

6,989,442
6,697,059
3,146,179

1,600,968
1,698,292

173,330
94,165

492,809
445,772

(65,001)
11,519

271,179
-

3,942
(49,146)

21,510,509

980,342
1,452,456
1,451,449 
1,270,099

450,671 
1,250,279 

896,599 
5,629,522 

702,876 
5,713,224

19,797,517

1,712,992
5,800,968

7,513,960

510,206
1,284,853

105,239
12,744,268

3,414,036
441,931

12,751,894
637,720

13,389,614

12,624,879

18,500,533

(5,875,654)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash (Note 3)
Accounts receivable (Note 5)
Inventory for resale
Investment in Nation business entities (Note 6)
Long-term investments (Note 7)
Funds held in trust (Note 8)
Long-term loans (Note 9)

Revenue
Indigenous Services Canada  
Economic Activity  
Province of British Columbia  
Sts'ailes Contracts  
First Nation Health Authority  
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation  
Other revenue  
Sto:lo Nation  
Rental income  
Income (loss) from investment in Nation business entities  
Interest income  
Ottawa trust income  
New Relationship Trust  
Gain (loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets 
Funding reimbursement (recovery)  

Program Expenses
Governance  
Sts'ailes Administration  
Employment and Social Development  
Community Development  
Housing  
Health  
Snowoyelh  
Education  
Economic Development - Sts'ailes Operations  
Economic Development - Controlled Entities  

Non-Financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1)
Prepaid expenses

Liabilities
Bank indebtedness (Note 10)
Accounts payable and accruals (Note 11) 
Deferred revenue (Note 12)
Long-term debt (Note 13)
Term loans due on demand (Note 14) 
Reforestation obligation  

Accumulated Surplus Assets less Liabilities
Equity in Tangible Capital Assets
Internally Restricted Equity (Note 17)
Operating Deficit
Equity in Ottawa Trust Funds
CMHC Replacement Reserve
CMHC Subsidy Surplus Reserve Fund

Total of financial assets

Total of financial liabilities

Net debt

Total expenditures  

Accumulated surplus, end of year  

Annual surplus 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  

Total non-financial assets

** The full financial audit can be found at www.stsailes.com



2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT34 35FINANCE FINANCE

ASSETS
2018

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

LIABILITIES
2018

Tangible Capital Assests 
$13,069,968

Long-term Debt 
$12,918,447

Inventory for Resale 
$131,553

Funds Held in Trust 
$596,862

Restoration Obligation 
$407,839

Long-term Loans 
$5,000,000

Term Loans Due on Demand 
$3,061,116

Investment in Nation Business Entities 
$3,695,031

Long-term Investments 
$1,000

Accounts Receivable 
$2,381,173

Accounts Payable & Accurals 
$1,834,449

Prepaid Expenses 
$882,992

Cash & Cash Equivalents 
$1,738,663

Bank Indebtedness 
$592,732

Restricted Cash 
$578,269

Deferred Revenue 
$1,558,588

EXPENSES - BY SEGMENT

5,629,522

5,750,424

Education

980,342

1,551,888

Governance

1,250,279

1,508,906

Health

896,599

969,416

Snowoyelh

450,671

418,800

Housing

5,713,224

4,915,248

Economic Development Controlled Entities

1,451,449

1,529,018

Employment & Social Development

1,451,449

1,529,018

Sts'ailes Administration

1,270,099

1,097,855

Community Development

702,876

751,294

Economic Development - Sts'ailes Operations

REVENUE

6,940,296

6,424,049

Indigenous Services Canada

6,697,059

6,360,198

Economic Activity

3,146,179

2,639,919

Province of BC

1,911,585

1,698,292

First Nations Health Authority

1,430,686

1,600,968

Sts'ailes Contacts

516,023

492,809

Sto:lo Nation

435,101

445,772

Rental Income

24,782

98,107

Other Revenue

22,424

11,519

Interest Income

15,419

271,179

Ottawa Trust Income

32,343

173,330

Canada Mortgage & Housing Corp.

257,701

Income (loss) from investments in Nation business entities

20182017

829,459

603,323

695,907

1,126,182

-104,562

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
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Ey Swayel! 

I proudly present the Sts’ailes Health & Family Services (HFS) Annual Report for the 2017/18 
fiscal year.  This report covers the 9th year of the 10 Year Flexible Transfer Agreement and 
preparations are currently underway to develop a new Health Plan.  We are now excited to 
develop a Health Plan that will carry us through the next 10 years in health and happiness.

Our Structure

In delivering the most appropriate and effective 
services and keeping up with growth, HFS has 
endured structural change.  Our program is delivered 
in two streams:  Community Health, which focusses 
on the delivery of Health services; and Community 
Wellness, which focusses on preventative and cultural 
programs.  The Telmexw Awtexw Healing Center and 
NNADAP were moved from Health to our Snowoyelh 
department.  On another level, Sts’ailes endured 
Leadership re-structure, with the separation of 
Politics and Administration.  This resulted in a Chief 
Administrative Officer position, to which the Health 
Director reports.  Although change is rarely simple, it 
can bring improvements, and our staff and community 
adjusted well to the new structure.

Community Health services have remained consistent with the addition of some enhanced 
services such as Massage Therapy, Hearing Clinics, and utilization of services offered through 
Seabird Island and Fraser Health.  Sts’ailes has always favored being an independent Nation; 
however the partnerships we are building upon with outside agencies add another layer of 
services for our people.  

Community Wellness programs have grown considerably.  With the direction of Sts’ailes 
Council to focus on Youth and Recreation, you will note in this report additional programs 
such as SPARK, JOY, Someone So Small, Family Nights, Teen Program, and more!  
Emergency Planning and Community Events are under the coordination of Community 
Wellness also.

Our Challenges

Health staff work tirelessly to deliver programs and services with the utmost care for the 
people; however it is not without challenges.  Lack of program space is our biggest challenge 
and our leadership is working towards building a new community facility.  Te Lede Lalem 
was re-purposed to help families at risk and the log building is being renovated for Elders 
and other programming.  The elimination of the National Child Benefit Reinvestment fund 

MESSAGE FROM THE  
HEALTH DIRECTOR

HFS 
MANAGEMENT

COMMUNITY 
HEALTH

COMMUNITY 
WELLNESS
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has us scrambling to find the means to continue to deliver annual community events 
such as Halloween Bash, Family Fun Day, and contributions to Sasquatch Days and Youth 
Soccer Tournament.  Growth of our nation has produced growing pains:  we often struggle 
to provide sufficient services in Home and Community Care due to high demand and an 
aging population; our nurses are overworked; waitlists to see the family physician often 
cause clients to go to walk-in clinics; and we struggle to find adequate supports within our 
community for Youth and Elders.   

Another challenge I must mention is the lack of Mental Health services available to Sts’ailes.  
Recently our Psychiatrist made a decision to cease services in Sts’ailes.  Clients are now 
accessing the same service but having to go to Seabird for their appointments.  We are 
working with Fraser Health to seek another psychiatrist who is willing to provide services in 
our community.

Our Strengths

Sts’ailes is fortunate to have such a strong and vibrant culture.  This is the foundation 
of wellness for our people.  We live, breathe, and practice Sts’ailes Culture and that is 
demonstrated by the health of our community.  HFS does its best to combine this strength 
with our practices.  Events led by Health are well attended:  First Salmon Ceremony, Honoring 
Elders and Babies, Community Burnings, Honoring Athletes, etc. 

Another great strength is our staff.  HFS 
has an excellent team of whom we are very 
proud.   
In this positive environment, we can 
accomplish our goals.  We work closely in 
a Letse’mot effort with other departments.  
It is the teamwork, built upon dedication, 
care, and respect, that makes the dream 
work… Teamwork makes the dreamwork!

I must say that it is not only the dynamic 
staff and strong culture that allow us to be 
successful.  YOU are our greatest strength!

What’s Happening on the Outside

Sts’ailes is fortunate to have built great 
relationships with our partners and 
government agencies.  Sts’ailes is a 
progressive and well-respected nation, 

thanks to leaders such as Ginny Peters, Willie Charlie, our Council, and the strength of a 
dynamic community!  As a Board Member for the First Nations Health Directors Association, 
I have the opportunity to advocate, have input, and to stay abreast of the current world of 
Health.  

There is a change in how things are being looked at when it involves First Nations people.  
Our Culture, Traditions and Protocols are being recognized and embraced.  Awareness is 
constantly evolving, enabling us to deliver programs that are Culturally Appropriate.  Mental 
Health is at the forefront of discussion and planning and we are able to combine the modern 

day practices with our culture for a holistic approach, which proves to be most effective for 
our people.  The opioid crisis has sparked a new rationale in which we are reducing the stigma 
of addictions and mental health and promoting harm reduction.

Lateral Kindness is being promoted across the Province in an attempt for healing and  
positive growth.

The recent shift in Medical Benefits to the Pharmacare system has caused much unrest 
and inconvenience in the province of BC.  The changes were made with little consultation; 
however FNHA is working on an engagement plan to mitigate the many issues under the  
new system.

What Lies Ahead

It is a good time to be ending the 10 year agreement and developing a new plan that aims 
to effectively meet the needs of Sts’ailes.  Evaluation of HFS will pave the way to a better 
tomorrow for our people.  Access to services for our members living off reserve has been 
an ongoing issue that we will endeavor to address.  We’d also like to deliver more services in 
traditional medicines and nutrition, among many other goals.  On that note, we are currently 
in the Evaluation stage of Health Planning and our dynamic team is excited to embark on a 
new and improved journey in Health and Wellness.

I hope you enjoy the contents of this report, written in part by myself, Margaret Charlie,  
Marg Hamilton, and Leilani Francis.

With respect and honor,

 

JANICE GEORGE  |  Nauness 
Health DirectorHEALTH &  

WELLNESS

CULTURALLY 
APPROPRIATE  

SERVICES

LETSE'MOT 
TEAM

OUTSIDE 
PARTNERS

COMMUNITY 
WELLNESS 

TEAM

COMMUNITY 
HEALTH SERVICE 

PROVIDERS
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HEALTH
strong people from birth to spirit life

COMMUNITY HEALTH COMMUNITY WELLNESS

HEALTH HEALTH

DEPT. MANAGER  

Marg Hamilton

Skemiliya

Led by CHN Marg Hamilton, who has worked with our community for 20 years, 
the Community Health Program offers ongoing medical services and programs.  
This includes visiting professionals, home support services, plus a wide range of 
programs that provide clients with ease of access to on-reserve services.

SERVICES PROVIDED BY VISITING PROFESSIONALS 

1. Family Practice Physician   Every Wednesday
2. Nurse Practitioner    Every Thursday
3. Visiting Psychiatrist    Monthly (ceased in 2018)
4. Massage Therapy  Every Monday and Thursday (increased)
5. Foot Care   Every 6-8 weeks
6. Eye Clinic   Every 8 weeks on average
7. Mammography Mobile Unit Annual (October)
8. Midwifery services  By referral
9. Hearing Clinic   Bi-annual
10. Dental Therapist COHI Ongoing
11. Infant Development  By Referral
 
HEALTHY CHILD DEVELOPMENT 

• Early Childhood Development (Aboriginal Head Start on Reserve)
• Infant Development Program Specialist by referral for 0 – 4 years 
• Immunization 
• Children’s Oral Health Initiative (chart attached)
• Someone So Small Program for 0 – 3 yrs (led by Community Wellness Manager)
• Expressive Play Therapy and Expressive Arts Therapy (led by Snowoyelh Dept)
• Healthy Pregnancy and Early Infancy (Prenatal Nutrition, Maternal Child Health, 

FASD education)

COMMUNITY HEALTH

This dynamic program is led by our Education department at the Early Childhood Education Center and 
funded through our 10-yr flexible transfer agreement with FNHA.

A total of 25 children aged 3- 4 years attend Early Education Centre.  Sixteen parents participated in four 
special events hosted by Sts’ailes Early Education Centre (Mother’s Day, Father’s Day, Grandparent’s 
Day and Graduation Day).

Children who attend the Early Education Centre are well prepared for pre-school and school entry in all 
areas of meeting age appropriate childhood developmental milestones.

Births

CHILDREN’S ORAL HEALTH INITIATIVE (COHI)  

EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION (ABORIGINAL HEAD START ON RESERVE)

2017 / 18

9 Births

Average Weight 
8 lbs. 11 oz.

2016 / 17 

12 Births

Average Weight 
8 lbs. 7 oz.

Infants

1 Year

2 Year

3 Year

Infant/Toddler

WEE 3

Preschool

Kindergarten

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

Prenatals

Class Size

Authorized

No Reply

Declined

Moved

Screened

No Screen

F.V. Required

F.V. Complete

Sealants

Sealants Complete

Art

Art Complete

Referral

Aged Out

Complete Program

10 20 30 40 50 60 70
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HEALTHY LIVING
 
Goals:

• Preventing long term complications
• Promoting  self-care which is understood and supported
• Reducing decline and return to pre illness functioning
• Achieving a healthy balance within an accepted target 

range of consistent wellbeing
 
COMMUNITY MENTAL WELLNESS
 
The visiting Psychiatrist to our community moved on in the 
latter part of 2017/early 2018.  Clients continue to be cared 
for by the Psychiatrist however, continued services for 
clients are offered through Seabird Health.  

Client Care:

• In 2017/18 there were 16 clients under the care of the 
Psychiatrist (through a partnership with Fraser Health). 

• Primary reasons for care are Complex Depressions, Stress 
Management, Anxiety, and Suicide Ideation.

• Clients diagnosed with Schizophrenia require injectable 
anti-psychotic medication every two- four weeks given by 
Sts’ailes nursing staff.

• Clients are stable and coping well

• Children and Youth are referred to the appropriate health 
care provider

• Traditional counselling is offered through the Telmexw 
Awtexw programs

Letse’mot Team:  Sts’ailes senior nurse connects with 
the Counseling team for a mutual exchange of information 
regarding clients who are being seen by the Psychiatrist 
and also by the Counselling team. The senior nurse also 
connects with the visiting Mental Health Nurses Liaison 
(Fraser Health). This connection also ensures continuity and 
mutual sharing around the Circle of Care to strengthen and 
enhance support of those who are affected by mental illness.

COMMUNICABLE DISEASE CONTROL  
 
Programs and services administered under Communicable 
Disease Control and Management are:

• Vaccine Preventable Illnesses and Immunization 
• Blood Borne Diseases and Sexually Transmitted Infections

• Communicable Disease Emergencies
• Respiratory  Infections (Tuberculosis)
• Submission of Annual Immunization Statistics

 
HOME AND COMMUNITY CARE
 
Home Care Nurse and Home Support staff are the team 
providing a range of Home Health services to 15-18 
community residents per month.

Services provided by Home Support staff include:

Home Care Nursing services:

1. Assessment of a wide range of medical conditions
2. Development of Care Plans for Nursing & Home Support
3. Monitoring of therapeutic interventions
4. Nursing treatment and procedures
5. Wound Care
6. Connections with off reserve service providers
7. Case Management 
8. Medication assessment, teaching, administration 

and management including medication reconciliation 
involving physician, pharmacist and nurse practitioner

COMMUNITY HEALTH ELDERS PROGRAMMING
 
Elders programs are delivered through Community Health 
and also Community Wellness.  The following are programs 
led by Claudette Leon, CHR

• Rice World in Vancouver field trip
• Neighboring communities field trips
• Harvesting at least once per month in season
• Honoring Elders/Babies Ceremony
• Annual Elders Gathering
• Monthly meetings are held where guests can come  

and share health information
 
Honoring Elders / Babies Ceremony

 
Annual Elders Gathering - Duncan, BC

This year the Elder’s Conference was held in Duncan with 
14 Elders and Chaperones attending.  In light of the ongoing 
decision about who attends and how is this decided, for 
the future we will be asking the Elders for their input and 
guidance.

Elder’s Christmas Luncheon 2017

The Sts’ailes Elders Christmas Luncheon was a fabulous 
success!  The food, company, entertainment, and help was 
awesome!  We set up for 150 people and every seat was 
taken by our Sts’ailes elders plus  elders from Scowlitz, 
Seabird, Squiala, Coqualeetza, Chawathil, Katzie, etc. The 
reviews and feedback were heart warming.

• Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem 
• Sts’ailes Community School
• Councilor Tim Felix:  MC and Volunteer driver

• IT – Adam Balfour and Mikhail Crispin
• Snowoyelh Ladies Group 
• Sts’ailes Culture Class 
• Social Development 
• Those who donated door prizes so many lucky winners  

go home happy campers. 

Harvesting Program

Sts’ailes is fortunate to offer harvesting in the traditional 
territory through Health and Snowoyelh in two separate 
programs.  Through HFS, the CHR leads a wonderful 
program that combines Elders and Youth and also supports 
the Ab Rights & Title department with identifying medicines.  
Participants learn about the various traditional medicines, 
harvest cedar and other plants, and pick berries.

Monthly Elder Luncheon Meetings

The CHR hosts Elders in the community in a monthly lunch 
meeting where important topics are discussed and we are 
able to connect with the Elders in a good way.  We strive 
to communicate to all Elders through face to face contact, 
by phone, HFS Facebook page, and notices.  The average 
number of Elders who participate in these meeting is around 
8 per meeting.  HFS developed a Communications Strategy, 
which we will be assessing soon for optimal effectiveness.
Presently, the Elders Log Building is being renovated for use 
by Elders and other programs as the former Te Lede Lalem 
was re-purposed to provide support to Children and Families 
at risk, a great program that keeps families together, in their 
home community.   We aim to develop an effective structure 
by asking the Elders to help us design how they’d like to 
be as a group and moving forward in a mutually agreeable 
manner.

Home Manag.

Meal Prep.

Personal Care

Direct Observ.

Foot Care

Mobilizing

Transportation

Respitory Care

Home Management Hours

January

February

March

April

May

June

July

August

September

October

November

December

40 80 120 160
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DEPT. MANAGER  

Margaret Charlie

K'ema

It is with great pleasure that I the Community Wellness Manager provide you with an 
overview of the Wellness programs for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 

The staff at Sts’ailes Community Wellness Centre believes that all people are unique. 
Our programs provide members with the opportunity to develop intellectually, 
emotionally, socially, physically, and culturally through play and in a warm, caring 
and nurturing environment. Activities are planned to meet developmental levels 
and interests of all members. We recognize and support inclusion of all members. 
All Programs recognizes cultural differences and promotes our uniqueness through 
cultural celebrations with an emphasis on the Sts’ailes Culture.

COMMUNITY WELLNESS

YOUTH WELLNESS PROGRAMS 

S.P.A.R.K - After School Program 

We are proud to offer S.P.A.R.K after School/Summer Program which provides 
quality service by promoting educational, social, and development opportunities  
for children who live in the Sts’ailes community. This dynamic program was run by 
Michael Daly and Annette Charlie-Francis, our Sport and Recreation Leaders.  The 
Afterschool program is provided daily for children aged 5-12 between the hours 
of 2:45pm and 4:30 pm at the Community Wellness Centre.  We have a regular 
attendance of around 20 children daily.  We also open the program for when there is 
school closures.

Spring Break 

We hosted the Spring Break program for 16-29 children who joined us for the two 
weeks of activities.  This was a fun program of swimming, meat preservation, tubing, 
movies, hiking, Get Air Abbotsford, plus crafts and activities at the Community 
Wellness Center.  The group also participated in some valuable cultural teaching 
moments at Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw ceremony, the Swearing in of Chief and Council 
and the meat preservation program.

HEALTH

Summer Recreation Program 

Through SASET funding and collaboration with our May:t Department, we offer Summer employment 
to high school students.  In 2017 we enjoyed having 11 students to help support the Summer Recreation 
Program.  For some of the students this was their first summer job and didn’t know what to expect.   
The Staff planned a 7 week program for the 2018 Summer Program and 50 children registered to attend. 
The following were some of the events and outings throughout the 7 weeks:

• UBC- Gearing up Science Camp
• Sto:lo Children’s Festival
• Beach Days- Kilbys, Harrison Lake, Hicks Lake
• Chilliwack Wave Pool
• Bridal Falls Water Park
• Get Air - Trampoline Park 
• Playland
• Fish Canning

 
We were fortunate to partner with Seabird Island Child Development and Jordan’s Principal who brought in 
a certified special needs work so that we were able to open up our program to children with special needs.

Teen Wellness Program 

The Teen program is hosted two nights a week and we have around 12 consistent Youth attending this 
program. The teen program consists of outings, sports, workouts, fundraising and just hanging out. The 
main focus of this program is prevention, support and guidance for our up and coming leaders 

COMMUNITY WELLNESS PROGRAMS

Aboriginal Run Walk Jog Program

The 13-week Aboriginal Run, Walk, Jog Program, cohosted with the Aboriginal Sport Med BC has been 
running in Sts’ailes for a number of years.  This year we had over 40 people from Sts’ailes sign up and we 
had 11 of them complete the 13-week program rain or shine. This year it was decided by the group that 
they wanted to attend the Vancouver 10 K Sun Run. 

HEALTH HEALTH

COMMUNITY WELLNESS MANAGER  
Margaret Charlie

Sports & Recreation Leaders 
Michael Daley, Annette Charlie-Francis

Health Administration Assistant 
Holly Charlie

PREVENTION AND WELLNESS
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Someone So Small – Baby Wellness 

In Partnership with Seabird Island Infant Development program, this new program hosts “Someone So 
Small” twice a month here in Sts’ailes. We had 8 babies and moms attending this program regularly.  The 
program focuses on large motor skills, play and parent involvement. Our baby group also includes the 
elders on some of their outings - mainly swimming which they all loved.

J.O.Y - Elders Wellness Programs

The J.O.Y (Just Older Youth) program is a new program that ran once a week for elders in the community 
to get together and have some fun. We have about 10 elders who participate regularly. The JOY program 
provides transportation for outings.  This year they went to:

• Science World
• Swimming Pools
• Museum Of Anthropology
• Luncheons 
• Information Sessions (Elder workouts & EPP) 

 
The elders even joined some of the parents on outings with the Baby Group and the Teen Program. 

HEALTH HEALTH

Evening Programs

During the week the Community Wellness Centre is open from 8:30am-9:00pm and we host a number of 
different programs on each evening such as: 

• Adult Drop in Hockey – 20 attended
• Youth Drop in Hockey – 10 attended
• Youth Drop in Indoor Soccer
• Family Nights – 15 attended
• Movie Nights – 10 attended
• 21 day Fix Work Out Program – 6 attended 

COMMUNITY EVENTS 
 
First Salmon Ceremony 

The first salmon ceremony was held on April 27, 2017 at the Sts’ailes School gym.  The fishermen were 
recognized at the ceremony for their ongoing support.  Health will recognize fishermen annually at this 
event.

Halloween Bash

October 31 2017 we hosted a Halloween Bash!   200 community member attended and enjoyed this festive 
evening including a costume parade, prizes, fireworks, food, candy, and lots of happy families.

Sponsorship

Chief and Council have allocated a budget to help support our membership who are participating in 
Sports and Recreation outside the community. Over the past year we have support 23 team sponsorships, 
3 Canoe sponsorships, and 37 Individuals participating in everything from Soccer, floor Hockey, Dance, 
Jujitsu, Ice Hockey, Karate, NAIG, and Tournaments. 

Sts’ailes Youth Soccer Tournament 2018

Our 17th Annual Sts’ailes Youth Soccer Tournament was a successful event once again this year with a total 
of 32 teams attending.  It takes the whole organization to help chip in and volunteer their time to ensure 
that this event is successful for all people who travel here to bring the spirit of soccer here to Sts’ailes.  

Sts’ailes Coaches:  

U5 - Amy Charlie 
U7 - Darren Charlie 
U10 A - Corey Charlie

Family Fun Day 2017

The goal of Family Fun Day is strictly fun!  This year attracted about 300 members who enjoyed all the 
free family fun.  Changing this event to the evening contributed to the large turnout.  We have about 
40 volunteers who come together to make this event possible for the families of Sts’ailes.  Attractions 
included: Popcorn, Cotton Candy, Snow Cones, Hot Dogs, Chips, 7 large Bouncy Castles, Dunk Tank, 
and we also invited Riverstone Detox, Sts’ailes Fire Department, Mental Health Awareness, Gambling 
Awareness and other outside resources for our people to access

U10 B - Patrick Mack / Emily Anaskan 
U 13 - Michelle Victor 
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Sasquatch Days 

This was the 6th Annual Event is hosted in 
partnership with the Village of Harrison Hot Springs 
and funded through donations and sponsorships.  
Canoes travel from the United States, Vancouver, 
Vancouver Island, and the Fraser Valley.  

The event was very busy and the races were a great 
success.  The Medicine walks were very popular and 
we had quite a few vendors attend this year.  We look 
forward to working with the village of Harrison Hot 
Springs for next year’s event. 

Sasquatch Days Sunday Winners

Men’s 
1. ? (Question Mark) 
2. Lady Jane 
3. Salish Dancer 

 
Women’s 
1. Raven Chief 
2. Merissa Mae
3. Mystical Lady 
 
Buckskins 
1. Stepatheleq 
2. Lady Rose
3. Mystical Lady 
 
Jr. Buckskins 
1. Lady Rose
2. Wild Goose
3. Autumn Rose 
 
U10 
1. Autumn Rose 
2. Merissa Mae 
3. Salish Dancer 
 
U7  
1. Lone Eagle 
2. Merissa Mae 
3. Autumn Rose 

TEAMWORK MAKE THE DREAMWORK!

HEALTH
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LANDS & PLANNING
Land. People. Culture. Prosperity.

LANDS & PLANNING

CAO / DEPT. DIRECTOR 

Willie Charlie 
Chaquawet

STS’AILES LAND CODE REFERENDUM RESULTS

Our Land Code, “Xa’Xa Temexw”, was ratified by our members on July 25, 2018. The 
vote was in favour of passing the Sts’ailes Land Code:

 

The purpose of the Sts’ailes Land Code is to set out the rules, principles and 
administrative structures that will apply to Sts’ailes reserve lands. It follows the 
federal Framework Agreement on First Nation Land Management and the First 
Nations Land Management Act. The Land Code was drafted and reviewed with input 
from Sts’ailes members who formed part of the Sts’ailes Lands Committee, as well 
as through a series of open community engagement events. 

LAND CODE ENGAGEMENT EVENTS

• February 2017 – 4 day Lands Open House, Lhawathet 
• June 2017 – Community Open House, CSS
• September 13 – Land Code Dinner, Community Hall
• September 14, 2017 –Land Code Dinner, Sto:lo Building
• February 2018 – Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw Community event
• February 2018 – Land Code event, Sts’ailes Administration Office  
• April 2018 – Community Open House, Sts’ailes Administration Office
• May 2018 – Youth Soccer Tournament, information table
• June 2018 – Promote the Vote Community event
• June 2018 – Sasquatch Days information table 
• July 2018 – two Advance Poll events 
• July 25, 2018 – final vote 
• September 2018 – Celebration 
• Numerous: Family/group dinners, interviews, social media outreach/video 

production, home visits and monthly external, internal and committee meetings/
presentations/reports. 

LANDS & PLANNING

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENTS SESSIONS

The Community Open House on June 14, 2017 was held at the 
Sts’ailes Community School Gym. There were 180 community 
citizens present at the Open House. 89 citizens participated 
in the Land Use Planning question. 

We asked the question: What would you like to see in 
Sts’ailes future regarding land management?

The word cloud below shows what community members want 
to see in Sts’ailes. Keep in mind, only 89 members provided 
suggestions for this question. 

The Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw on February 28, 2018 was held at 
the Charlie Longhouse. There were 145 Participants. The Land 
Use Planning Team shared information on Flood Mapping, 
Climate Change and the Solid Waste Feasibility Study. These 
three project reports will be included in the final Land Use 
Plan. 

The draft Land Use Plan will be shared with the Sts’ailes 
citizens by August 2019.

LAND USE PLANNING

Land Use Planning is a process to determine the most 
appropriate use and allocation of land areas for different 
types of development and use. It identifies which lands to 
protect, maintain and develop based on our needs, values 
and priorities. 

It will help us to plan our present and future needs for:

• Housing
• Infrastructure: Band buildings, sewage, clean 

drinkingwater
• Food: Fisheries, hunting, gathering
• Nature: Water, wildlife
• Protection: Sacred sites
• Employment: Resource development, tourism, 

construction

2017/2018 COMMITTEE OUTCOMES 

Updated Terms of Reference, established regular meeting 
schedule, input for Land Use Plan outline and design, and 
assisted with community consultation by participation in 
community and family meetings. 

Lands Department Next Steps:

Setting up and establishing a Sts’ailes Lands Department: 

• Setting up files that have been transferred to us from the 
Indian Land Registry

• Begin Law Making through

 º Continued engagement with Chief and Council, 
Administration and community

 º The Lands Committee will draft the laws base on 
community input

 º The Laws will be brought to the community for review 
and/or ratification

• Laws that we are already working on;

 º Land Use Plan
 º Sts’ailes Spousal Property Law
 º Laws on the horizon; 
 º Environment Management Law
 º Leasing and Permits
 º Allotments
 º Animal Control

335
VOTED 

YES

22
VOTED 

NO

1
SPOILED

For at total of 358 votes, which is 42.2% of eligible voters and of 
that 94% voted yes. 
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PROJECTS UNDERTAKEN IN 2017-18

LANDS & PLANNING LANDS & PLANNING

LANDS COMMITTEE

NEW FISCAL YEAR ANNOUNCEMENT

Two new positions have been filled in the Lands and Planning 
Department. Dawn Charlie is the Lands Manager and 
Stephanie Leon-Riedl is the Lands Executive Assistant. The 
law development, including the Land Use Plan have been 
rolled into these two positions. 

Back Row (L - R) 
 
Daryl Francis - Ey:iye  
Erick Paul - Ey te K'ey ekwels
Shelley Felix - Montah 
Christy Wenman - Soyemot 
Leanne Julian - Senóqw’iye 
Curtis Leon - SeSayLoWet

Front Row (L - R) 

Joshua Peters - Qwemelanxm 
Tim Felix - Tsousilum (Portfolio)  
Brad Charlie - Xoy’ethet 
Russell Point - Quintlā-lam.

Missing 

Land Code Coord. (Developmental Phase)  
Kandice Charlie - Kaltes 
 
Land Use Planning Coordinator  
Dawn Charlie - Su-lii

Submitted by Susan Balfour, Sts’ailes Project Officer 

We have had an extremely successful and productive year, and I have worked hard to achieve access to the funding for the 
Projects listed next through participation in meetings and negotiations, and by writing proposals and applications to the Funding 
Programs and Agencies. I work closely with the Sts’ailes Departments and Leadership to ensure that the Projects can be carried 
out for the benefit of Sts’ailes, and that the Reports are completed and submitted.

Amount FundedDepartmentFunder / ProgramDescription

DISC- Capital
DISC- Capital
DISC- Capital 
DISC – Capital 
DISC –FNESC 
SASET – YI
FNHA – AHSOR 
SASET – FNICCI 
MCF- Capital 
DISC – Capital
Connect to Innovate
DISC – P&ID 
DISC - BCCI 
DISC - FN ADAPT 
DISC – LEDSP 
DISC – LEMB
DISC 

1,200,000
208,000
57,059
94,800
94,000
28,775
207,206
167,087
345,000
220,000
 134,748
67,300
90,315
312,813
80,000
68,657
100,000 

$ 3,475,760

Education
Education
Education
Education
Education
Education
Education - SEEC
Education - SEEC
Education - SEEC
Governance
Governance
Governance
Rights & Title
Lands
Lands
Lands
Snowoyelh

Industrial kitchen / Cafeteria
Fire Alarm / P.A. System / Doors
Document Schedules – Classrooms
Cedar siding upgrades -School
High Speed Fibre Optic- School
Skills Training for Youth
Daycare Renovations
Daycare Renovations
Daycare new classroom 
Community Hall Reno / Demos
High Speed Fibre Optics- Band
Gov. Communications system
Cultural Resources Mapping
ADAPT Flood mapping
Land Use Planning
Solid Waste Feasibility
Family Violence Prevention

TOTAL

Message from the Lands Team: Keep your eyes open for 
Land Engagement Dates, your input will form the laws for our 
land.

“Our Land our Laws” 
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
MA:YT DIRECTOR

It is with pleasure that I present our 2017-2018 Ma:yt department annual report. The Ma:yt 
department is comprised of the Human Resource (HR), Administration, Information 
Technology (IT), Employment Assistance Services (EAS) and Social Development (SD). 
The annual report is a reflection of our key activities and successes for the 2017 – 2018 fiscal 
year.  

Employees under the Ma’yt department are frontline workers that provide support services to 
all departments within the Sts’ailes organization and Sts’ailes community members. 

The employees of the Ma:yt department are as follows:

Director 
Linda Pettis

IT Officer 
Mark Balfour

EAS Supervisor 
Shelley Felix

Receptionist / IRA 
Carla Charlie

Network Administrator 
Adam Balfour

EAS Admin. Support 
Stephanie Phair

S.D. Administrator 
Joanna Charlie

IT Assistant 
Mikhail Crispin

Career Dev. Practitioner 
Verna Leon

S.D. Assistant 
Charlotte Phair

IT Assistant 
Vanessa Jules

EAS Receptionist 
Lilli Joe

One of the most fundamental, yet foundational changes for our department is the way we 
support our organization and Sts’ailes community members. Our commitment is reflected in 
our “Vision and Mission statement”, which always reminds us of who we are here to support 
and provide professional services to. The creation of our Vision and Mission statement 
continues to guide us in the development of our goals and objectives for each fiscal year. 

VISION STATEMENT 

“To lead frontline services to empower; educate, support and guide our people to 
self-sufficiency for a holistic successful future”

MISSION STATEMENT 

“We are committed to enhance the foundation of Sts’ailes by promoting  
communication, innovation, accountability and partnerships.”
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The Ma:yt department continues to develop systems and processes that addresses the 
strategic needs of the Sts’ailes organization.  The role of the Ma:yt  department is to support 
the goals and visions of Sts’ailes Chief and Council. Ma:yt department is committed to provide 
professional, respectful services to our Directors/Managers/Officer and Sts’ailes community 
members. Ma:yt department continues to embark on new opportunities that will provide 
employment and training opportunities for Sts’ailes community members.  

Ma:yt department was successful in securing funding for employment and training initiatives 
through Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills Employment Training (SASET) and Service Canada.  

The funding supports received for 2017-2018 are listed below:

TITLE OF EMPLOYMENT INITIATIVE FUNDING RECEIVED DESCRIPTION OF EMPLOYMENT INITIATIVE

Employment Assistance Services (EAS) $400,595.00

Provides employment for 4 full-time employees.  EAS 

mandate is to support Sts’ailes, Scowlitz and Leqa:mel 

community members in building their skills and knowledge 

by connecting them into employment and training 

opportunities or to move forward in obtaining a higher 

education that will support them in attaining employment 

within our BC Labour market. 

Direct Course Purchase (DCP) $10,815.00
Training opportunity for 12 Fishery crew employees to attain 

the certification to operate a Fork Lift and Telehandler.

Targeted Wage Subsidy (TWS) $34,753.00

TWS initiative provided an employment and training 

opportunity for 2 Sts’ailes community members to gain 

hands on work experience in the field of Administration  

and Justice.

Targeted Wage Subsidy (TWS) $42,456.00

TWS initiative provided an employment and training 

opportunity at the band office and School for two Sts’ailes 

community members in janitorial and maintenance. 

Targeted Wage Subsidy (TWS) $35,395.62

TWS initiative provided an employment and training 

opportunity at Snowoyelh and the Sts’ailes School for two 

Sts’ailes community members. Skills attained were in the 

field of Receptionist and Day Care Assistant. 

Blade Runner Program
Fully funded by 

SASET

Construction Level 1 training offered to 15 Sts’ailes 

Community members.

Student Career Placement (SCP) $59,000.00

Summer employment opportunity for 23 Sts’ailes youth 

to attain hands on work experience in many different 

employment areas within the organization.

The connection between the Social Development department and the Employment Assistance 
Services (EAS) department continues to grow. The connectivity of both programs created a 
support system that provided Social Development clients the resources and tools to do skill 
enhancement training in order to engage into employment opportunities that were arising 
on and off reserve.  Below is a graph that indicates the success of connecting the Social 
Development department with the EAS program for 2017-2018 fiscal year:

Success of connecting the Social Development Program with the EAS Program in 2014

2012

80

284

59

2013

89

285

46

2014

135

357

81

2015

197

396

56

2016

221

418

80

2017

163

550

60

Employed Returned to School EAS Client Case Files

The accomplishments the Social Development Administrator and EAS employees have 
been able to achieve through fiscal year 2017-2018 has been outstanding (see above chart).  
The success of our programs and services offered to our community members has been 
acknowledged by Indian Northern Affairs Canada, Service Canada and Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills 
Employment Training. 

The Ma:yt department has reviewed the Sts’ailes Community Comprehensive Plan (CCP) 
document to start addressing the requests and needs of the membership with regards to our 
services we provide through our department.  The CCP was a major goal and objective when 
our department developed the 2017-2018 work plans. Ma:yt department is pleased to inform 
Sts’ailes membership that we have achieved 80% of the goals and objectives set out in the 
CCP that targeted the Ma:yt department. 

Ma:yt Director continues to ensure that the HR processes and systems support the Directors/
Managers/Officers of the Sts’ailes organization.  This includes the annual updates of the 
Sts’ailes Personnel Policy and Procedures Manual and Salary Administration Policy/Grid.  
All Operating Policies of the Sts’ailes organization fall in line with Federal and Provincial 
employment Legislation.  Ma:yt Director works closely with all Directors/Managers/Officers to 
establish a plan to identify the professional development needs within their departments. This 
process assists the Ma:yt Director in securing funding that will support employees in gaining a 
higher education in their field of employment. 
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Human Resource department continues to manage in access of 300 employee personnel 
files. Ma:yt Director administers and provides quality pension and employee benefit support 
services to approximately 150 Sts’ailes employees. The employment growth within the Sts’ailes 
organization continues to grow. Below is a chart that will indicate the employment growth 
within the Sts’ailes organization:

The growth chart noted above includes the Sts’ailes Band, Sts’ailes Development Corporation 
(SDC) for all full-time and part-time employees. Ma:yt Director continues to work closely 
with the CEO of SDC and Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) on employment and training 
opportunities that arise within the Sts’ailes traditional territory. 

I would like to acknowledge the Council Portfolio Sherry Point and the Ma:yt Committee 
(Marnetta Felix, Sadie Leon, Terry Lee Paul) for their dedication and commitment in guiding 
and support the Ma:yt department. Their knowledge and expertise has been vital in our 
department in achieving our goals and visions for this past fiscal year 2017-2018. 

Sts'ailes Organization Employment Growth

2012 
Employees

301

2013 
Employees

327

2014 
Employees

316

2015 
Employees

306

2016 
Employees

320

2017 
Employees

360

LINDA PETTIS 
Ma:yt Director

EACH YEAR THE MA:YT DEPARTMENT TAKES THE LEAD 

FOR THE COMMUNITY CHRISTMAS DINNER AND WE ALWAYS DO OUR 

BEST TO MAKE SURE EVERY FAMILY HAS A MEMORABLE TIME!

WE COULDN'T HAVE DONE THIS WITHOUT THE HELP OF THE 

VOLUNTEERS THAT COME OUT AND DEDICATE THEIR TIME FOR SUCH 

A SPECIAL EVENT.  FOR THIS WE WOULD LIKE TO RAISE OUR HANDS 

IN RESPECT FOR YOUR HELP! 
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MA:YT
Land. People. Culture. Prosperity.

MA:YT

IT OFFICER  

Mark Balfour

The 2017-2018 fiscal year has been a busy one for the Sts’ailes IT Department, 
with many projects completed, more projects started, as well as staffing and 
communications additions.  

IT INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS AND ADDITIONS

• The Sts’ailes IT Department purchased and deployed more than $145,000 worth 
of hardware and software during the 2017-2018 fiscal year.  

• After much planning on improving our online presence, the work is well underway 
to improve all our Sts'ailes Owned websites.  This is being down so that we can 
inform everyone with current and relevant information. Sts’ailes’ main website 
has been completed and work has begun on the rest of the websites.  An exciting 
and positive change with the newsletter - it is now being printed on 100% 
Sustainable paper! The paper is made from 25% Hemp and 75% Post Consumer 
Materials, so no trees were cut down to make this paper.  We are very proud of 
this small step we made to be a more environmentally conscious organization.

• The Internet connection at Lhawathet Lalem was upgraded from 6mbs to 
300mbs, with the addition of a modern wireless network and a cellular signal 
booster that will enable the facility to attract large groups requiring Internet 
access and mobile phone service.  The IT Department worked with Shaw Cable 
to get this connection operational in December 2017, with a project cost of 
$40,000.

• The Snowoyelh network was upgraded with a modern wired and wireless network 
that connect both Snowoyelh buildings on Sachem road with an upgraded 
wireless bridge to the Bandoffice that doubled the connection bandwidth.  This 
project had a cost of $16,000.

• Telus phone system in Snowoyelh was replaced with a unified system that serves 
both Snowoyelh buildings on Sachem Road.  The system has 23 phones and had 
a project cost of $14,000.

• The IT Department, Sts’ailes Community School, and Sts’ailes Projects Officer 
were successful in their proposal to the Connect to Innovate Program offered by 
Innovation, Science, and Economic Development Canada to fund new fiber optic 
backbone infrastructure in Sts’ailes.  This $184,000 project will enable Sts’ailes 
to connect to the fiber optic Internet connection in the school which will provide 
a high degree of quality, speed, and expandability that is currently beyond our 
reach. This fiber backbone will allow us to transport our data backups offsite 
every day and will keep our servers online continuously despite long power 
outages.  This project is expected to be completed during the 2017/18 fiscal year.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT)

MA:YT

STS’AILES IT DEPARTMENT’S CURRENT STATUS 

• We have advertised an IT Assistant position which we 
hope to fill in the next fiscal year which will bring the IT 
Department to a total of 3.5 FTE.  This will enable us to 
meet the increased workload that will come with the 
anticipated growth of the Sts’ailes organization.

• Preparation for an IT helpdesk has begun that will increase 
our efficiency and give the ability to generate statistics 
about our work for planning and reporting purposes.

• Budgeting and technical work in preparation for a major 
server infrastructure upgrade in the 2020-2021 fiscal year 
has begun, with a separate IT profit center established 
with a capital reserve fund.  We have updated and maintain 
a 10-year technical and fiscal plan, currently out to 2028.

TE LALEM

ELDERS 
BUILDING

STS'AILES 
SCHOOL

DAYCARE

EAS 
BUILDING

FISHERIES 
BUILDING

SNOWOYELH 
BUILDING # 1

SNOWOYELH 
BUILDING # 2

FIREHALL

BAND  
OFFICE

LEGEND

Fiber School>Daycare

Fiber School>Band Office

Conduit School>Generator

Wireless Bridge

Telus Fiber Connection
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INDIAN REGISTRY ADMINISTRATOR

Carla Charlie is the Indian Registration Administrator (IRA) for Sts’ailes and is also 
the Receptionist and provides Administrative support.  Carla took the IRA training 
in February 2016 and has been slowing taking over from Pierre Joe who has been 
doing this position for many years.  Pierre is now her back-up and he has been 
providing in-house training over the past 2 years when any new situation occurred.

INDIAN REGISTRATION ADMINISTRATOR DUTIES 

• Register the following: births, deaths, marriages, divorces, band transfers (in and 
out of Sts’ailes)

• Send to INAC amendments to individual registry pages such as: father info, 
mother info, spouse info, family name, given name(s), etc. 

• Issue Certificate of Indian Status (CIS) cards

• Issue verification letters: blood quantum, living on reserve, Indian Status and 
Indian Status Number.

• Record and update all mailing addresses

CHANGES TO REGISTRATION AND THE SECURED CERTIFICATE OF INDIAN 
STATUS (SCIS) CARD

Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada (INAC) has made several changes related 
to registration and the Secured Certificate of Indian Status (SCIS) card that took 
effect April 2018.

Policy changes made

• The age for applying for registration without parental consent has been lowered 
to 16 years old (from 18 years old).  This will align the adult age for registration 
and the SCIS.

• Registration will require supporting identification (ID) of the adult applying for 
themselves or on behalf of a child or dependent adult in addition to the original 
long-form birth certificate:

 º In-person clients at the regional office in Vancoucer can show the original birth 
certificate and original supporting ID.

 º IRA in-taken applications and mail-in applications require the original birth 
certificate, completed guarantor form and a guarantor-signed copy of the 
supporting ID.  These are all to be forward to the INAC.

 º The supporting ID can be one piece as long as it is issued by the government, 
valid and contains all four elements: name, date of birth, photo and signature.   
If the applicant does not have one ID that contains all the elements, they can 
use a combination of IDs to make up the four.

I.R.A.  
Carla Charlie

MA:YT

13 

SCIS Card 

• If the name on the long-form birth certificate does not 
match the name on the supporting ID, one or more name-
linking documents will be required.  The most common 
name-linking documents are marriage certificates and 
Certificates of Legal Name Change.  Note – this already 
applies to the SCIS, but is new for registration.

Already in effect

• All birth certificates and marriage certificates that are not 
in English or French – originals are required.  The client 
also needs to provide an original professional translation.

• An adult with a valid adult SCIS can be a guarantor – 
please read the guarantor form carefully for additional 
requirements.

• Anyone can take photos for the SCIS as long as the photos 
meet all of the requirements for passport photos.

Form changes

• Application forms for first-time registration (births) have 
been replaced by a new form which is more complicated.  
If you need assistance in completing this form, Carla is 
available every Tuesday to assist you.

• The forms list two mailing addresses.  If you are going to 
mail in the forms yourself, they are to be sent to one of the 
addresses on the form.

• The forms are “integrated” to allow applicants to apply for 
registration and their SCIS at the same time.  However, 
they can opt out of the SCIS on the last page.

Forms changes – other forms

• Those who are already registered are to us the current 
“standalone” SCIS forms.  The Department has plans to 
replace the adult and child/dependent adult forms with a 
combined form.

SCIS Information

• The SCIS requirements have simplified since the card was 
first introduced.

• Registered adults no longer need to present or mail 
in their birth certificate.  Registered children’s SCIS 
applications still require a long-form birth certificate – 
copy or original.

• The supporting ID can be one piece as long as it is issued 
by the government, valid and contains all four elements: 
name, date of birth, photo and signature.  If the applicant 
does not have one ID that contains all the elements, they 
can use a combination of IDs to make up the four.

Bill S-3 (Descheneaux court case)

• Information about Bill S-3 is available online at https://
www.aadnc-aandc.gc.ca/eng/1517234884318/15172349
05525.    

• Please direct questions about Bill S-3 to 1-800-567-9604.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION TO NOTE 

It is very important to start the registration process for all 
new born babies who may be eligible to be registered as 
status due to the lengthy process time of 6 months or more. 
Tuesday is the designated day of the week when Carla is 
available to work on Indian Registration issues, provide any 
assistance in completing forms and issuing CIS cards.Secure Certificate of Indian Status Card example.
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The Sts’ailes Employment Assistance Services (EAS) is an 
employment based program; funded by Sts’ailes, Sto:lo 
Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy (SASET), 
Federal Government and Service Canada.  The Sts’ailes 
EAS welcomes any clients that maybe unemployed/under-
employed, status, non-status, living on or off the reserve. 

Sts’ailes EAS consists of 4 Certified Career Development 
Practitioners (CDP) and one Administration Assistant.  
Sts’ailes CDP’s work closely with all clients to provide 
employment and skills enhancement opportunities in order 
for them to achieve their career goals that our set out in their 
action plans. Working with clients to achieve their career 
goals is very rewarding and we will continue to go above and 
beyond in supporting our EAS clientele.  

Programs available:   

• Employer focused programs
• Target Wage Subsidy 
• Work Based Training  
• Student Career Placement
• Project Based Training
• Youth Initiative

STS'AILES EMPLOYMENT ASSISTANCE SERVICES (EAS)

Services Offered:

• Essential Skills Assessment Evaluation
• Employer Referral
• Referral to Agencies
• Computer and Internet Access
• Education & Trades Training Information
• Photocopying and faxing
• Life Skills Training Information
• Job Placement
• Job Post Board
• Career Planning
• Resource Library
• Employment Readiness
• Vocational Training Supports
• Labor Market Information 
• Transition to Work Applications
• Resume Writing and Interview Skills 
• Cover letters 
• Employment and Career Counselling
• Job Search Strategies
• Job Action Plans 
• Short and Long Term Vocational Applications

Sts’ailes Employment Assisted Services staff:

Linda Pettis
Ma:yt Director

Shelley Felix
Career Development Practitioner

Stephanie Phair
Career Development Practitioner

Verna Leon
Career Development Practitioner
 
Lilli Joe
Administration Assistant

Joanna Charlie
CDP & Social Development Admin.

MA:YT

Clients have taken certified training/skills enhancement and job based training in areas such Administration, Customer 
Service, Construction Level 1, Culinary Arts, Road Builders, Basic Security and Fire Fighting training.  Each of these courses 
hosts different cerification that enables the clients to gain the necessary skills and knowledge to attain employment or move 
forward in achieving a higher education.   

Here are some of the certificates that these courses entailed such as Forklift, Bobcat, TCP, all levels of First Aid, WHMIS, etc:

SPRING BREAK TRAINING – CUSTOMER SERVICE PLACEMENT

EAS worked in a partnership with Sto:Lo Aboriginal Skills & Employment (SASET) and Services Canada in negotiating a Spring 
Break training initiative that targeted students that were in school.  EAS was successful in securing the funding agreement to 
host a five (5 )day Spring Break Training that targeted youth who were currently enrolled in school. This training opportunity 
for our Sts’ailes youth was to provide them with certificate trianing that would assist them in achieving their career aspirations.  

Sixteen students fully participated in the training program. The certificates that were obtained covers a wide range of 
employment opportunities from Traffic Control right through to a First Aid.   Congratulations to each and every student for 
taking the initiative in engaging in skills enhancement opportunities 

CAREER DEVELOPMENT PRACTITIONER CERTIFICATION – DOUGLAS COLLEGE 

Congratulations to Simone Williams- Horne and Melinda 
Felix for successfully completing the Career Development 
Practitioners Certification through Douglas College.  Both 
ladies are now fully certified and can begin their careers 
as employment practitioner. The Career Development 
Practitioners (CDP) certificate program has helped develop 
the competencies, knowledge and skills necessary to 
work effectively with a diverse client population in the 
employment field.  Simone and Melinda were able to learn 
techniques that will support them in working with clients 
and groups on how to use the assessment tools to create 
and implement their action plans that will identify the steps 
needed to reach their career aspirations. 

EMPLOYMENT SERVICS STATISTICS FOR APRIL 1, 2017 – MARCH 31, 2018

163
EMPLOYED

48
UNEMPLOYED

60
RETURNED TO 

SCHOOL

343
# OF CASE  

FILES

257
# OF NEW CASE 

FILES

1141
TOTAL 

INTERVENTIONS

MA:YT
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CULINARY ARTS PROGRAM  

The graduating class of the Sto:lo Aboriginal Skills & 
Employment Training (SASET) Culinary Arts Pre-Trade 
Program.   In class training was from April to July, with 
a two week practicum work placement. Roland “Aaron” 
Leon obtained the highest marks in class (100%) and was 
rewarded with a set of Culinary Art knives. 

Some of the initial training the students completed was:  
Occupational First Aid Level 1 Certification Occupational 
Health & Safety Certification, WHMIS Certification, and Food 
Safe Certification.   Followed by Employer Expectations, 
Knife Practice & Plate Presentation tips and tricks. 

ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNICIAN CERTIFICATION 
PROGRAM (ETCP) 
 
Maurice Point Sr and Maurice Point Jr completed a six 
week program.  The program was sponsored through 
Seven Generations Environmental Services, MATCON Civil 
Constructors and SASET. Congratulations to the Maurice’s!!!

EMPLOYED UNDER THE WOP 

Patrick Point completed the Building Service Worker 
training and secured full time employment at the Sts’ailes 
Community School as custodian and maintenance. Patrick 
is employed under a WOP initiative between the School and 
the Social Development department. 

FIRST AID LEVEL 1 - CUSTOMER SERVICES TRAINING 
PROGRAM  

PERSONALITY DIMENSION WORKSHOP - CUSTOMER 
SERVICE TRAINING PROGRAM 

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT - TRANSITION TO EMPLOYMENT PROGRAM

A new addition to the Social Development Team is Charlotte 
R. Phair, who is the Social Assistance Admin. Assistant. 

EARNED INCOME / EXEMPTION ELIGIBILITY

There has been an important amendment to the Social 
Assistance Policy that allows clientele to earn income that 
will not affect their monthly social assistance entitlements.  

These earning exemptions provide income assistance clients 
who work with the ability to keep additional income over and 
above their monthly income assistance payment, offering 
them the opportunity to build job skills and experience to 
increase employability and take advantage of part-time and 
temporary work.  These exemptions have allowed clientele 
to meet their monthly basic needs of shelter and have a 
smooth transition to financial independence.  Clients are 
able to better provide for their families while receiving 
assistance.  

Since the implementation of the increased exemption levels 
there has been a significant increase of people gaining part 
time employment – 41 people are now supplementing their 
income assistance with earned income.  

Out of the 41 steady case files that have gained full time 
- part time employment, 8 carry Persons with Disabilities 
Designations.  There has also been an increase in the 
number of clientele networking and coming up with short 
term solutions on how to overcome the most common 
employment barriers of, no public transportation and lack of 
a license/vehicle/ insurance.  

WORK OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM (WOP)

The Work Opportunity Program is intended to enhance the 
independence and employability of individuals in receipt of 
income assistance.  Within the framework of the Income 
Assistance Program, we have the ability to transfer income 
assistance allowances to employment projects which are 
supported and approved by Chief & Council.  The Social 
Development is delighted and proud to have been able to 
work in conjunction with Employment Assisted Services, 
Sts’ailes Community School, Sts’ailes Early Education 
Centre, Sts’ailes Community Store, Human Resources and 
other Band Departments with WOP placements.  

Since April 2018 there have been 5 successful placements 
that all ran for one year.    

The Social Development Department was able to apply a 
large contribution to the Community Christmas Dinner, 
Christmas Gift Cards to clients, and this year we plan to 
celebrate ALL Sts’ailes Elders in the celebration of gift 
giving.  Social Developments’ main focus is “inclusion” so 
we were able to offer every elder a gift.  Though the Special 
Needs budget the Social Development Department has been 
able to purchase full bed sets/bedding, dressers, various 
major appliances, kitchen utensils for every client and child 
in receipt of income assistance.      

MA:YTMA:YT
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PUBLIC WORKS  
& HOUSING

Land. People. Culture. Prosperity.

PUBLIC WORKS & HOUSING

DEPT. MANAGER  

Pierre Joe 
Piyal

PUBLIC WORKS

MANAGEMENT STAFF

FIRE DEPARTMENT

STAFF

Director 
Sherry Point

Public Works Manager 
Pierre Joe

Fire Chief 
Ed Carter

Fire Captain 
Dale Leon

Custodians 
Kristen Joe 
Joshua Charlie

P.W. Workers 
Stacey Antone 
Dale Leon

Student Worker 
Genevieve Paul

Crew Members 
Mikhail Crispin 
Mark Charlie 
Ashley Felix 
Michal Daly (New Recruit) 
Michael Peters 
Colton Louie-Felix 
Brianna Louis (New Recruit)

We have one staff member, the Public Works Coordinator on long term medical 
leave – we wish him well with his recovery.

Our Volunteer Fire Department is comprised of a Fire Chief, Fire Captain, and eight 
volunteer crew members:

We have had a recent change to our Fire Chief going from Tim Felix to Ed Carter.  
Hands up and thank you to Ed Carter and Dale Leon for taking on their new roles, 
and effort into this huge responsibility.  As you can see our Team above is quite 
small, but they are active – we are always looking for committed volunteers who can 
come out and join the Fire Department team.  

You can contact Pierre Joe at the Administration Building at 604-796-2116 ext 222,  
e-mail at Pierre.Joe@stsailes.com, or you can see one of the members above.  

This year’s FNESS training was held in Victoria, B.C., which 3 members attended – 
Ed Carter, Dale Leon, and Michael Daly (new recruit).  Also two of our members (Ed 
Carter/Dale Leon) attended the “Structural Fire Engagement” in Richmond, B.C. Oct 
23 & 24 2018.

PUBLIC WORKS & HOUSING

ASSET MANAGEMENT   

The newest we are trying to manage is “locating water shut 
off’s” in the community – when an emergency arises (usually 
at the craziest times), finding these can be difficult.  We will 
be working with AR&T and our IT dept inputting this into our 
database system using GIS coordinates.  We apparently had 
all this info in a nice little binder at one time, but it grew legs 
(as things do), so starting from scratch.  Exciting for my dept 
to have this done, this will include shut off’s and fire hydrants 
at this time.

 
SOLID WASTE & RECYCLE PROGRAM

Pierre Joe and Susan Balfour attended the 2018 SIWMA 
(Southern Interior Waste Managers Association) conference 
held in Harrison Hot Springs September 18-21/18.  Presenters 
from all over BC, its primary purpose was to discuss Solid 
Waste and Recycle.  On one day Sts’ailes did a presentation 
(Susan and myself and Tetra Tech), showcasing how our 
program is done in Sts’ailes, how First Nations communities 
are dealing effectively with waste management.

ADMINISTRATION BUILDING

Janice George (Health Director) and Pierre Joe met with 
First Nations Health Authority (FNHA) and were graciously 
funded for some renovations/repairs on the Health Wing on 
this building.  This was a long time coming – the work being 
actually done was challenging due to the weekly services/
programs that we have i.e. Dr’s and Practitioner visits etc.  
I commend the Health Staff for putting up with this crazy 
schedule, and all their help during this process.  A majority of 
the work completed with a little more painting to carry out 
and some exterior work. 

EMERGENCY PLANNING

Our Coordinator Margaret Charlie does a phenomenal job in 
this area – when we were in flood season, she took on this 
role in a professional approach making sure all was dealt 
with in a timely manner.  My part during this entire process 
she made easy, working along someone with such a drive /
commitment is great.  I am crossing my fingers/praying we 
have a mild winter – for snow removal and power outages.   
I know who I will be calling on for assistance
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DIRECTOR  

Sherry Point 
Chemaylem Taunaut

HOUSING

Wow, it’s been another amazing year with our Housing/Capital Public Works team; 
it’s hard to believe that the 2018 year end is here already; like all Departments 
within our Organization, we’ve all been being so busy striving to achieve  the goals 
of our Comprehensive Community Plan and the 60 year Chief & Council Vision.  I’m 
happy to report that we’ve had successful applications and the new construction 
and renovations & repairs are well underway to meet the goals of our Community 
members.  The following projects are underway:

10 Unit Regular Renovations & Repairs 
10 Unit Mold Renovations & Repairs: Total ISC Approvals $299,112
11 homes under new construction: Total ISC Subsidy $333,967
 
Individual tenants or homeowners include:

Stevie Victor
Carol Francis 
Inez Waters
Georgina Paul
Matthew Paul

Social Housing 

Holly Charlie & Tyler Paul
Amy Charlie
Vicki Paul
Darren Charlie Jr & Ashley Crey

Individually Owned 

Glenn & Liz Thorne
Tacee Modeste

Micro Housing

Did you know?  Since 2015 Housing has sold $250,000 in House sales to our Band 
Members; this creates a sense of homeownership and is an incentive for many of 
our members. Also effective September 1st, 2018, the new construction subsidy 
has increased from $24,319 > $33, 813 (an additional $9,494!) 

Housing continues to successfully collect accounts receivable (Housing Arrears) 
that is owed to Sts’ailes Housing.  I am happy to report that via majority of our 
members who fall under in this category are in compliance with the tenancy/
repayment agreement.

Last year Housing operated in a Housing Surplus of $86,000.

Due to the high demand with our Housing requests and renovations, the tenant 
selection process is based on our Priority Rating for Tenants. (Fair process). If 
you’d like view the rating process or have any questions concerns, about anything 
with regards to Housing, Capital or Public Works, please don’t hesitate to either 
call or drop by the office.  Until next time, take care of yourselves and hold your 
Family close.

Respectfully,

Sherry Point

Housing / Public Works Director
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RIGHTS & TITLE
WE ARE THE LAND

RIGHTS & TITLE

DIRECTOR  

Boyd Peters 
Xoyet Thet

Sts’ailes people have an inherent right to self-govern themselves.  The R&T 
Department follows the laws of our land according to snowoyelh, our traditional 
laws and insures that others respect the title and rights of Sts’ailes and our ways of 
governing ourselves for the protection and assertion of our Xa’xa Temexw, sacred 
land, and to determine the future uses of our traditional territory.

We have an ongoing responsibility to respect our Xa’xa temexw.  We have lived in 
balance with all things since time immemorial.  We are the land.

Our strength is achieved by maintaining our connection to the land, our stories, 
our culture and spirituality.  By maintaining our solidarity, we will continue to grow 
and flourish as a strong, independent Sts’ailes Nation.

RIGHTS & TITLE STAFF

As the governing body of Sts’ailes, Chief and Council are responsible for the 
management, assertion and protection of Sts’ailes Rights and Title.  R&T staff work 
closely with the Chief and Council through the C.A.O./Chief Negotiator and other 
Council committees, boards, departments, other organizations and government 
jurisdictions, legal counsel as well as various consultants.

The R&T Director, Research Technician and Community Engagement Coordinator 
all have served a number of years on Sts’ailes Council.  They bring with them a 
lot of intimate knowledge and understanding of Sts’ailes aspirations and values.  
Along with the Senior Research Assistant and Field Technician who both have been 
with the R&T Department for ten plus years, are all Sts’ailes.

The Heritage Research Archaeologist has also been with Sts’ailes for ten years 
plus.  His area of studies is based on Sts’ailes history and culture and brings with 
him a vast scientific and professional knowledge.

FULL-TIME 

Director 
Boyd Peters

Research Technician 
Tim Felix

Senior Research Assistant 
Fran Douglas

Heritage Research Archaeologist 
Morgan Ritchie

CONTRACT STAFF

Field Technician 
Burt Charlie 
 
Professionals and University  
Graduate Students

Kwi’kwe’xwelhp Community  
Engagement Coordinator 
Terry Felix

ON-CALL STAFF

RIGHTS & TITLE

OUR GOALS

• Stewardship of our traditional territory and protection 
practices to reinforce the traditional use of our territory 
for future generations.

• To have the Sts’ailes community, leadership and staff 
understand the issues and the community’s approach 
related to rights and title.

• To reclaim unceded Sts’ailes territory (ie. Chehalis River 
Fish Hatchery, Weaver Creek, recreation sites, Critical 
Heritage Property).

OUR OBJECTIVES

• Co-management of our land and resources within Sts’ailes 
territory including the waterways.  Negotiate with both the 
provincial and federal governments to reach this end.

• Negotiate revenue sharing with the government for 
revenue generated from land and resources within 
Sts’ailes traditional territory.

• Seek compensation for loss of land (ie. Morris Valley Road 
trespass, alienated riparian land due to diking).

• Enforce buffer zones around Sts’ailes.

• Develop a Research Policy to protect our information and 
history.

• Educate and inspire our Sts’ailes youth regarding 
their rights and title (ie. Incorporate into the Sts’ailes 
Community School Curriculum, start an education 
campaign for our members)

• Seek more resources to properly staff the R&T 
Department.

• Negotiate Nation to Nation Agreements with other First 
Nations.

• Develop our land use plan with diligent consultation with 
Sts’ailes community members.  Apply best practices and 
traditional knowledge.

• Implement the necessary plans for land acquisition, 
land management, land use, land code, community 
development, physical development, inclusive of all public 
facilities/locations.

• Post signage throughout our traditional territory to 
educate the public about Sts’ailes and our traditional 
territory.

• Encourage and promote the need for Sts’ailes youth 
to seek higher education and degrees in fields such as 
archaeology and related fields.

• Further develop and share the Strength of Claim at various 
community functions.
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KWI’KWE’XWELHP (KWI)

Sts’ailes possesses a strong working relationship 
with Correctional Services Canada (CSC) in regard to 
Kwi’kwe’xwelhp (Healing Village).  The relationship has 
steadily grown and developed since 1998.  The Sts’ailes 
Community Engagement Coordinator is the liaison between 
this local Federal Minimum Institution and Sts’ailes.  Over 
the past year he has been involved with the following:

Kwìkwèxwelhp Staff Cultural Training – This annual 
workshop is held at Kwìkwèxwelhp.  It provides Sts’ailes 
cultural training for the Kwìkwèxwelhp staff.  

Escorted Temporary Absence (ETA) for Mill Training – The 
Woodmizer Mill is on loan from Kwìkwèxwelhp and is located 
in Sts’ailes.  The Kwi Residents receive training on the mill’s 
operation and cut lumber for various projects.  They also mill 
wood for Sts’ailes community members.

Other ETA’s – Elders’ firewood program, elders’ yardwork, 
regular maintenance at Camp Cove, making park benches, 
tending to the community orchard and community garden, 
attending community gatherings, gathering firewood 

for memorials, helping out at the annual youth soccer 
tournament, erecting tents on loan from Kwìkwèxwelhp, 
helping at the Sasquatch Days Festival and attending 
community gatherings and spiritual longhouse gatherings.

Cultural Contract – Ten elders are hired to teach cultural 
activities every Saturday at Kwìkwèxwelhp that include 
cedar weaving, cedar baskets, medicine walks, picking 
berries to can and make jam.

Screenings – The Kwi Community Engagement Coordinator, 
R&T Director and parole officers regularly discuss any 
requests for ETA’s for the Kwi residents.  They also consult 
regarding any transfer requests from higher security 
facilities to the Kwìkwèxwelhp minimum security facility.

Escort Training – The Sts’ailes community and 
administration are constantly making requests for Kwi 
residents’ assistance with various programs and events.  
Not all requests for assistance have been met due to not 
enough people having the necessary Escort Training.  Only 
seven Sts’ailes members have been trained.

RIGHTS & TITLE

NEGOTIATIONS

The R&T Department leads a number of negotiations for 
Sts’ailes for the protection of our traditional territory and 
governing rights.  The following is an update on some of 
these important files:

On March 7th, 2018 a Letter of Commitment (LOC) was 
signed between Sts’ailes and the Province.  It was a means 
to provide Sts’ailes with short term opportunities while more 
detailed work and planning could go into negotiations for a 
broader Reconciliation Agreement (RA).

The RA will help facilitate further advancing the files we are 
presently negotiating with the Province.  In order to keep this 
file advancing and on track, a Reconciliation Coordinator 
will be hired.  Some of the files the RA Coordinator will be 
involved with are:

1. Sts’ailes/BC Protocol Agreement on Child and Family 
Welfare

2. The Community Health Care Centre (formerly referred 
to as the Primary Health Care Centre)

3. A Memorandum of Understanding with the Conservation 
Officer Services (COS)

4. Resolution of the Morris Valley Road Trespass

TITLE CASE

Sts’ailes continues to compile evidence for the title case, and 
negotiate with governments and industry as though rights 
and title have been recognized.  This means shared decision 
making regarding land and resource use and benefiting from 
ongoing use of Sts’ailes lands and resources.

Research:

• Review and Opinion on the research is not yet done.
• We are sorting out access to the research.
• We must have a description of our title and rights.
• We must prove the purpose.
• Hunters and fishers must be interviewed.
• All species in the territory need to be identified.
• Expert witnesses have to be prepared.

 
Sts’ailes has a strong case but we need to work at it.  As 
instructed by our legal counsel, we continue to mention our 
title case at high level meetings to help create leverage for 
ourselves.

ECDA NEGOTIATIONS WITH MAJOR RESORTS BRANCH – 
SASQUATCH MOUNTAIN RESORT (FORMERLY HEMLOCK 
VALLEY RESORT)  

The Province made a decision back in October of 2015 
to approve the Hemlock Resort Expansion Master 
Development Plan (60-year plan).  The Master Development 
Agreement (MDA) was approved in April 2016.  The 
Provincial Government’s Mountain Resorts Branch (MRB) 
has been working towards fulfilling its commitment to enter 
into an Economic and Community Development Agreement 
(ECDA) with Sts’ailes regarding this file.

In 2015 the Provincial mandate for revenue sharing with First 
Nations for ski resorts was set at 20% of the Incremental 
Revenue (IR) the province receives annually from the 
resorts.  Through negotiations with the Province, Treasury 
Board increased the IR sharing from 20% to 37.5%.  This 
increase is reflected in Sts’ailes’ draft ECDA.  The annual 
payments to Sts’ailes will increase as the resort develops 
and visitors to the resort increase over time. 

We now have the final draft of the ECDA for our review 
and comment.  Our legal counsels for both the ECDA and 
our Title Case have tried to protect our rights and title as 
much as possible in the ECDA.  However, there are some 
compromises for both BC and Sts’ailes.  The ECDA is near 
completion. 

COMMUNITY HEALTH CARE CENTRE AT LS1 IN 
HARRISON MILLS (FORMERLY REFERRED TO AS THE 
PRIMARY HEALTH CARE CENTRE)

There has been a long time delay on moving this file forward.  
The plan is to build the Community Healthcare Center 
(CHCC) at this site.  The CHCC would serve Sts’ailes as well 
as the general public of the surrounding communities.  The 
original plan was to have the LS1 property at the 4-way stop 
in Harrison Mills, transferred to Sts’ailes as fee simple land 
in exchange for the sale of recreation lots around Harrison 
Lake.  Due to logistics, the government was hesitant to 
move forward with transferring the property to Sts’ailes as 
fee simple.  The property was then reserved as a critical 
heritage site in order to secure it for the CHCC.  It was 
decided that a long-term lease would be the best way to 
secure the property for this project.

LS8 PROPERTY- STS'AILES SASQ'ETS 
A:EYLEXWTAWTEXW

The Land Transfer Agreement between the Province and 
Sts’ailes is complete.  The necessary documentation has 
been forwarded to the Ministry of Attorney General’s office.  
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A copy of the Land Transfer Agreement signed by the 
Ministry of Forests Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
and Rural Development (FLNRORD) will be forwarded to us.  
This property is the targeted site to build an Assisted Living 
Unit for elder care. 

REFERRALS

Sts’ailes receives a large number of referrals for renewal of 
various licenses and permit applications submitted to the 
Province from both industry and the private sector for land 
use within Sts’ailes traditional territory.  R&T staff review 
and respond to all referrals in the best interest of Sts’ailes.  
Some of the referrals received over the past year involved:

• Bridge replacement projects
• Renewal of water licenses and leases
• Various and ongoing forestry activities in the territory
• Applications for mining operations in the territory (ie. gravel)
• Ongoing activities related to the Independent Power 

Projects (IPPs) in the territory 

In some cases, we are able to negotiate for compensation 
and/or accommodation.  The research aspect of doing our 
due diligence involves gathering of cultural, spiritual, and 
historical information as per our Heritage Policy.  This gives 
us important research information as well as educates the 
government and the public about us and our territory.  We 
are also able to have our Field Technician on site to monitor 
the work and activities on the land.

 HERITAGE RESEARCH ARCHAEOLOGIST – MORGAN 
RITCHIE

Strength of Claim

Archival research and archaeological work continues.  In 
working with a team of professional researchers from 
our Title Case legal team and Specific Claim researchers, 
we have been able to considerably expand the volume of 
ethnohistoric material that is central to making a strong 
case for Sts’ailes rights and title.

Sts’ailes Outposts

Sts’ailes R&T is working in coordination with the Sts’ailes 
Community Schools’ educational outdoor program to 
identify ideal locations for alpine outposts.  Recon trips to 
assess the suitability of a location will be made in the fall.  
The outpost is expected to be an important statement of 
territory, ongoing land use and occupation, as well as offer 
outdoor education and tourism opportunities.  This initiative 
will integrate with broader land use planning objectives. 

Sts’ailes Archaeology

This year several exciting archaeological collaborations 
have been launched with researchers from Simon Fraser 
University (SFU) and University of British Columbia 
(UBC) to help Sts’ailes address important research 
interests and to elevate awareness of Sts’ailes’ rich 
cultural heritage.  These research collaborations involve 
specialists in micromorphology, microbotany, and 
geoarchaeology focusing on complex issues such as long 
term human-environment interactions and tracking down 
tool-stone material procurement sites.  These projects 
have implications for aboriginal rights and title interests, 
providing evidence for continuity of occupation and 
extensive use and management of land and resources.

Micromorphology – Dr. Francesco Berna and colleagues 
from SFU are working with Sts’ailes to understand the 
way in which Sts’ailes people responded to changes in 
riverine conditions over time.  This involves analysis of 
microstratigraphic layers observable in profiles on mid-river 
islands. 

Microbotanical – Dr. Rosa Maria Albert from the University 
of Barcelona, Spain and colleagues from SFU are working 
with Sts’ailes to reconstruct how vegetation conditions of 
low-lying areas of the river have changed through time.  This 
analysis has the potential to demonstrate the ways in which 
Sts’ailes people modified their landscape for occupation or 
cultivation, and also to show how the dominant vegetation 
may have changed historically, with modifications made to 
the river and down-stream rivers.

Geoarchaeological – PhD Candidate Rhy McMillan and 
colleagues from the Department of Earth of Ocean 
Sciences at UBC are working with Sts’ailes to chemically 
and structurally characterize geological materials from the 
Harrison that may have been utilized by the ancestors of the 
Sts’ailes for making stone tools.  Conducting these analyses 
should help us to link artifacts that we find within ancient 
houses and villages to discrete places on the landscape, 
providing even more evidence for Sts’ailes use of the 
landscape, including for quarrying raw materials.  

In addition to archaeological research, Sts’ailes R&T has 
continued to provide archaeological consulting services, for 
numerous sectors.  Projects have included forestry surveys, 
assessing potential impacts to archaeological materials 
at the Chehalis River Recreation Site, and conducting an 
impact assessment of the Chehalis River one-lane bridge 
replacement. 
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RESEARCH TECHNICIAN – TIM FELIX

The research aspect of duties involves various historical 
information gathering.  This not only gives our band insight 
but the government on all levels as well as our neighbors.

We have our territorial foot print of our traditional territory.  
We take our elders into our territory on Harrison West 
via Chehalis Forest Service Road to identify traditional 
harvesting sites.  The elders have had a number of locations 
GIS mapped for future reference.  Another trip is planned 
to start from 20 Mile Bay and go back towards our last GIS 
location which is 10 Mile Bay.

For the Strength of Claim documents, Tim will interview 
elder John Peters on the 20 Mile Bay burial sites.  We have 
two burial sites which were washed up with rocks placed on 
top of them.  The interview went well as John told stories of 
his hunting days up at 20 Mile Bay when he was twenty years 
of age.

Tim is qualified and able to do some of the necessary field 
work when requested to help save money for the R&T 
Department.  He has extensive field work experience in 
engineering and surveys which helps with biogeoclimatic 
site identification exercises.

Páléxel (Chehalis River Canyon) has been designated for 
the exclusive use of Sts’ailes community members.  The 
site was used quite often during the summer months.  The 
site has also been used for film shoots which pay the band 
a gratuity.  The winter months are slow in terms of usage by 
Sts’ailes community members.  The onsite outhouse needs to 
be regularly serviced.  A maintenance work plan is currently 
in place for Páléxel.  The cost to pump one outhouse ranges 
from $250 to $750 depending on how much garbage is in 
the outhouse ditch tank.  We have been piggy backing on 
Bruce Ledingham’s dates of pumping out outhouses when 
he has the recreation sites adjacent to Páléxel serviced.   The 
Kwi Community Engagement Coordinator has been able to 
assist with garbage and general cleanup with some of the Kwi 
residents during their ETAs.  Tim does the outhouse cleanup, 
site monitoring and administration duties regarding Páléxel.  
Sts’ailes community members can contact Tim to book the 
site for camping.

Elders’ G.I.S harvesting sites was set for April.  We have 
G.I.S to 10 Mile Bay and will work from 20 Mile back.  
Pesticide treatment referrals from the government were 
reviewed to mitigate against the elders’ traditional harvest 
sites being damaged.  Tim has been to our elders’ harvest 
sites for GPS way points for our land use planning mapping.  
The process is ongoing

Long island and Kweh-kwuch-hum ash sites are yet to be 
GPSed for our land use mapping.  Tim also plans to do some 
mapping for our archives.  The two locations are marked out 
on our maps.  Our Field Technician identified a huge rock 
shelter at the south end of Long Island which is about the 
size of our office.  The rock shelter has been GPSed and will 
be mapped for reference.  Long island is the burial site of 
two of our ancestors.  Place markers will be put in place out 
of respect for the family.  Unfortunately, the damage has 
been done as the burial sites have been logged in the past 
but mitigation measures will be implemented to avoid any 
further damage.

Archaeology Training for capacity building for Tim 
is planned for the new fiscal year.  GIS training will be 
requested when funding is available. 

STS’AILES LAND USE PLANNING (CULTURAL RESOURCE 
USE AND PROTECTION PLAN)

The purpose of the territory-wide land use planning, or 
Cultural Resource Use and Protection Plan (CRUPP) 
continues to be to:  1) identify general areas throughout the 
territory that are of cultural importance because they are 
sacred sites and heritage areas, or important ecological 
niches for traditional plant and animal harvesting  (Cultural 
Resource Use Areas - CRUAs), 2) to formally inventory 
the cultural and ecological resources at these areas and 
articulate these CRUAs with existing land use designations, 
3) define management objectives, strategies, and rationale 
for each of the CRUA’s, and 4) ultimately implement the 
management plans through coordination with the Province.  

To date we have completed Phase 1 of this initiative, and 
are working on Phase 2, which involves: delineating the 
identified Cultural Resource Use Areas (CRUAs) based on 
more refined studies that will include 1) an examination 
of current land zoning, 2) GIS based terrain modelling, 3) 
field verification and assessment of areas and proposed 
corridors, 4) feasibility assessment to determine potential 
for linking proposed CRUAs through protected corridors 
and other existing management areas, 5) Refining CRUA 
and corridor inventories (both cultural and ecological), and 
6) Compiling these datasets to delineate bounded areas 
and corridors that are suitable from a Sts’ailes perspective, 
and also designed to align with current Provincial land use 
objectives and values. 

Detailed assessments and recommendations will be 
prepared to seek formal support from the Sts’ailes 
community and leadership for each of the CRUAs and  
linking corridors. 

RIGHTS & TITLE
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JUSTICE

RIGHTS & TITLE
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STS'AILES COMMUNITY SCHOOL

COUNCIL

STS'AILES COMMUNITY MEMBERS 

MINISTRY OF FAMILY & CCC

CORRECTIONAL SERVICES CANADA

Chief and Council recognize and acknowledge that Justice is a growing concern in our community 
and there is a lack of resources for this program.  Council drafted a Justice Framework Strategy to 
recognize that “Justice is Everyone’s Business”.  A Justice Steering Group of Council further refined this 
framework. 

Community safety is the means by which all people are given the opportunity to develop their spiritual, 
emotional, mental, and physical abilities to the fullest extent. The holistic development of a strong sense 
of family and spirituality will in turn allow each person to participate fully in the social, political, and 
economic lifestyle of their choice.

The Community Safety and Justice Strategy will work within the guidelines established by council and 
the community with a focus on the cultural, historical, and traditional teachings of the Sts’ailes people. 

The goal is to have a community that is safe for all community members especially the most vulnerable 
such as the elders, children, women and the disabled.

KEY ELEMENTS OF THE JUSTICE STRATEGY 

• Set up partnerships and protocols. Establish and maintain relationships with First Nation Police
• Re-frame to “Justice is everyone’s business”
• Customize a made in Sts’ailes approach to justice
• Focus on the family not the self
• Focus on parenting skills, life-skills, and effects of residential school
• Develop programs for lateral violence and domestic violence
• Implement a prevention strategy

 
The Sts’ailes Justice Strategy will be further developed.  A community forum will be held to seek the 
community’s input on priorities.

OUR GOALS

• Establish our own tribal policing unit
• Develop just and transparent laws with the authority to enforce them and impose penalties.
• Develop and implement our own community safety plan and restorative justice system to include 

traditional laws, elders, family, healthy leaders and members who live a healthy lifestyle.
 
OUR OBJECTIVES

• Share legal process information with the community
• Engage the youth 
• Emergency Safe House
• Enforce the Dog Bylaw
• Fishing and Hunting Education Programs
• Implement security systems in all community buildings
• Post more signage (ie. speed limits, trespassing, illegal dumping, and littering)
• Implement a confidential hotline for on-reserve community members
• Train and retain a Justice Worker
• Re-establish a Drug Task Force
• Develop a reintegration program for members after evictions/banishments
• Develop partnership agreements with various agencies regarding justice (ie. RCMP Tripartite 

Agreement)

OUR STRENGTHS

• Good working relationships with the RCMP and community members
• Snowoyelh is involved with our community members’ court proceedings.
• RCMP attend our Justice Meetings.
• Addressing our poaching issues
• Justice strategy development

 
THE CHALLENGES

• Drug and alcohol issues
• Lack of information about the legal process
• The present Criminal Justice System focuses on the individual and not the family.
• Lack of community security.  An enforcement officer is needed to maintain and enforce our policies.
• Lack of resources and processes in justice.

PROPONANTS STS'AILES JUSTICE HAS OPEN COMMUNICATION WITH
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Our Goals

• Strong competent leadership to ensure our community’s 
interests and needs are honored.

• Ongoing communication between leadership and the Sts’ailes 
community members.

• Ensure program and service delivery are carried out efficiently.

• Ensure fairness and transparency of Sts’ailes government to 
our membership by developing proper policies, procedures, 
and constitutions.

Our Strengths

• Our youth/elders being active participants on various 
committees.

• Engaging the community for their feedback on various plans, 
codes, and developments.

• Our Chief and Councillors visiting the school for cross-learning.

• Having active council members by appointing portfolios 
and committees.

• Having a growing influence over surrounding municipal, 
provincial and federal governments.

Challenges

• Community dependency on leadership for some things that 
are not leadership responsibilities.

• Some government policies that remain unchanged.

ELECTION CODE 

The Sts’ailes Custom Election Code review will be complete in 
November.  Barring any unforeseen circumstance, a Ministerial 
Order to remove Sts’ailes from the Indian Act election provisions 
will be issued at that time.  This will allow for enough time to 
appoint an electoral officer and conduct the next election 
according to the required timelines.

GOVERNANCE

According to Council’s vision to achieve sovereignty and self-
governance, the R&T Department is mandated to assert our 
jurisdiction, develop the constitution, create codes and laws, 
and reclaim ownership rights in our territory.  This includes 
and is not limited to justice, the environment and our natural 
resources.  Sts’ailes constitutional development will aide in 
this endeavour.

RIGHTS & TITLE
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MESSAGE FROM THE  
SNOWOYELH DIRECTOR

Snowoyelh Department is following the natural laws that has been given to us by our Ancestors 
that lived here on our Sts’ailes land, respecting the water, the four legged, the ones that fly, the 
plant people according to, respecting and Honoring our people. Recognizing the suffering that 
our people have through, the loss of our Traditional ways to live in a Healthy community, that 
families need  connection to Healthy family Elders to guide them to providing a healthy safe 
home environment to parent their children. 

The world we live in today is a challenge with many obstacles that prevent the safety and 
wellbeing of our children.  Snowoyelh has developed programs according to the Circle of 
seasons, providing Teachings from Elders for Sts’ailes families, youth and community groups.  

NANCY PATRICIA CHARLIE  |  Sel Ya:al 
Snowoyelh Director
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SNOWOYELH
walk in the snowoyelh way

TE EMI:MELH TE LALEM TELMEXW AWTEXW

SNOWOYELH

DEPT. MANAGER  

Anna Charlie 
Thelesiya

TE EMI:MELH 

Te Emi:melh It is a word meaning our children– all our children, 7 generations before 
and 7 generations after. – it also includes family, whether by blood or association. 

Snowoyelh Te emi:melh in existance since February 2009, based on a collaborative 
relationship between Sts’ailes Snowoyelh and the Ministry of Children and Family 
Development (MCFD).  Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh is a culturally appropriate Child and 
Family services program, based in Sts’ailes.

Te Emi:melh staff members work together, with respect and integrity, to address 
and resolve family issues utilizing our culture and traditions in the best interest of 
Sts’ailes Children, Youth, Elders and Families. 

We strive to merge culture programming with western education.

Sts’ailes are seasonal people, our guiding principles are simple we turn to our 
culture and traditions, threading them throughout all programs and/or events, 
starting at the management and administration level. 

Group Sessions are utilized extensively, with such things as: 

• Sts’ailes teachings and gatherings
• Sts’ailes Ceremonies  
• Seven laws of life 
• Healing circles
• Medicine wheel teachings
• Seasonal activities

 
Roles to Sts’ailes Children, Youth and Families 

In a culturally appropriate approach and manner Snowoyelh Staff provide: 

1. Education to Sts’ailes members and their families involved with Ministry of 
Children and Family Development (MCFD) or delegated agencies such as: 
Fraser Valley Aboriginal Child and Family Service Society (Xyolhemeylh) 
systems serving the family and youth.

2. To help identify the strengths and needs of families.

3. Be a mediator between the delegated Agency system and the family by helping 
to educate professionals on the strengths and needs of the family.

SNOWOYELH

4. Help family members understand the different roles of 
the agencies involved in the system and how they may 
affect the family.

5. Assist families in identifying and utilizing necessary 
services.

TE EMI:MELH STATISTICS  

202 files on-reserve and off-reserve 
3,935 direct services hours provided by 5.4 front line workers 
28 children did not enter care as a result of intervention 
15 children were returned to care of family 
6 children were placed in an out of care placement (with Family)
249 collaborative family meetings took place 
47 cultural events took place 
3,149 people participated in Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh programming  
 
Snowoyelh offers a variety of program throughout the year 
here is the information from 2017-2018 year on our programs:

ADVOCACY

In a culturally appropriate approach and manner Snowoyelh 
Staff provide education to Sts’ailes members and their 
families involved with Ministry of Children and Family 
Development (MCFD) or delegated agencies, to help identify 
the strengths and needs of families.

Be a mediator between the delegated Agency system and the 
family by helping to educate professionals on the strengths 
and needs of the family. To help family members understand 
the different roles of the agencies involved in the system and 
how they may affect the family. Assist families in identifying 
and utilizing necessary services. Sts’ailes Advocates are the 
voice for the band, but also for children, youth, and families 
when needed. 

TATEL 

The women’s connect or Tatel group was a 9-week program 
for women aged 18 years and over, offered a few different 
times throughout the year. 

The program participants gather once a week at Letse’mot 
Awtexw and Snowoyelh #2 for 4 hours. Each session was 
opened with a smudge or cedar brushing, and a talking 
circle. All sessions topics were group lead, topics covered 
were: trauma, importance of ceremony, women’s health and 
learning to let go of things that bother us. There are many 
strengths for this program and by incorporating cultural 
protocols, participates could feel the safe and supportive 
atmosphere created, as well from each other.   Meals and 

snacks were shared, for some in the group as a part of our 
Culture. Sessions were closed with a talking stick and when 
needed a prayer.

Traditional teachings are interwoven with western methods to 
enhance parenting, communication, household management, 
self-esteem building, self-care, increase knowledge of lateral 
violence, enhance parenting, and skills to reduce it and more. 
Also participants unknowingly touch on the intergenerational 
trauma within their family systems, often resulting in 
requests for one-on-one sessions.  Participants learned 
triggers they have and how to deal with them, healing from 
past trauma. This is showing to enhance their parenting and/
or grand-parenting skills. 

MAMEL 

The Men’s Group is open to all Sts’ailes men as well as 
neighboring First Nation Communities. The purpose of the 
Men’s Group is to promote wellness within our community’s. 
the program is offered a few times throughout the year.  
Issues addressed in the men’s group: substance misuse, 
addiction, health, self-esteem, grief & loss. Methods used to 
address problems or awareness/prevention: 

• Sweats – two sweats per month
• Cultural Outings
• HIV/AIDS workshops; communicable disease prevention 
• Suicide Intervention/Prevention 
• Spiritual Cleansing / Smudge / Prayer
• Carving, Wood cutting
• Ceremonies
• One on one support 
• Healing Circles – spiritual cleansing / smudging and  

cedar brushing 
 
This program has grown significantly since its origin. We will 
continue to support the men on their journey and provide 
opportunities for growth and health.
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PUBERTY CAMP 

The Puberty Camp ran from July 10 to 12, 2017, with the 
Natural Changes at the Charlie Longhouse and the Warrior 
Camp at Squwakum Park, there was a total of 21 youth that 
participated - 12 girls and 9 boys.

There were a number of traditional activities that were 
scheduled and must say it was difficult to pick highlights from 
the programs as each camp and each day of events the young 
men and ladies enjoyed themselves and had fun learning and 
participating in Sts’ailes Traditional teachings and activities.  
All activities scheduled were based on Sts’ailes culture and 
teachings 

Some of the main highlights for Natural Changes were the 
jam and bread making, storytelling/sharing, slahal game 
vs. Warrior Camp.  To complete and finish off the wonderful 
camp a coming out ceremony was held together with the 
Warrior camp.

Warrior Camp highlights cultural traditional teachings and 
activities around change of life and roles and responsibilities 
of a young man, the runs, swimming and the slahal game vs. 
Natural Changes Camp. 

Traditional knowledge transference is a major and important 
part of these camps Our Elders hold the knowledge of our 
past to hand down to our future generations. 

5-7 YEAR SUMMER PROGRAM

This program was created as it was a gap in services for our 
community, children aging 5-7 years were too old for daycare 
and too young for our summer recreation program. 

The program was held in July and August, Monday to Friday 
9am to 3pm, in partnership with the Sts’ailes Recreation 
Program. There were 14 children that attended the program, 
therefore addressing the need in the community as these 
children had a safe supportive environment to attend daily. 

The main focus of the 5-7 summer programs this year was 
culture – who you are and where you come from. Children 
learn the traditional game of Slahal, Cedar weaving, 
preserving fish, how to introduce themselves to elders:  
 
"what your name is, who your parents are and who your 
grandparents are, and learn a few traditional stories of 
Sts’ailes." 

Like any summer recreation program there were fun and 
games which the children loved as well. Outings included: 
swimming in Sts’ailes Traditional territory, water slides, 
science world, play-land, and more. 

This program allows Snowoyelh staff to create relationships 
with the children in the community these children know that 
they can go to these staff when or if needed. 

CHILDREN IN CARE CAMP 

The main goal for this camp was to allow children in care 
to attend a cultural gathering or camp here in Sts’ailes. 
During this camp staff used the transference of traditional 
Sts’ailes knowledge to camp participants, so that they will be 
empowered to make positive choices in their lives and further, 
to create a sense of cultural identity that will be realized in the 
cultural practices they will undertake. 

The main purpose of the traditional teachings is to give the 
youth a ‘toolkit’ that they can use when they are faced with 
difficult choices or strong negative pressures. By working 
with cultural identity, the youth could gain a stronger sense of 
self, when facing teen pressures, such as substance abuse or 
bullying or self-esteem. 

The Children in Care Cultural Camp was a huge success! The 
use of cultural teachings to create a sense of cultural identity 
for the youth participants was a very powerful tool. The youth 
learned right away that they are valued, special and that they 
will be honoured, in a traditional ceremony. They became a 
part of something extraordinary and in turn, this created for 
the youth, a stronger sense of cultural identity. 

In response to the question: What did you like best about 
Culture Camp 2017? One youth said, “That it healed my voice 
and [that I] got to keep the teachings.” 

These powerful words reflect the absolute necessity of 
Cultural Camp 2017! Youth who had arrived shy, maybe even 
a little afraid, left singing songs and holding their heads high 
in the Honouring Ceremony. There was obvious pride in these 
youth and it can only be ascertained that it was because of all 
the cultural teachings at Culture Camp.

A caregiver parent, who attended most of the Camp’s events, 
was so overwhelmed with joy and happiness at what he 
witnessed over the two days, that he choked back tears 
of gratitude at the Honouring ceremony. He said he would 
recommend this camp for anyone, adults and children alike. 

Since this was first time that a camp like this has been done, 
just for children in care youth, it had many positive impacts, 
such as the cultural pride demonstrated by the youth. The 
Sts’ailes staff contribution to the camp was exemplary, going 
above and beyond the cultural teachings, by doing such 
things as ‘counselling’ some of the troubled youth or just 
clearly demonstrating to the youth that they are valuable and 
loved. 

In conclusion, this Cultural Camp was a success, primarily 
because of the extraordinary staff that was hired to work 
the Camp. Their commitment to the youth was evident with 
their tireless work and demonstrated patience, not only with 
the youth themselves, but with the changing schedule of 
activities. All staff, in their own way, let the youth know that 
they are loved and that they truly do matter in this world. 

AFTER SCHOOL PROGRAM 

This program continues to meet the needs of children and 
youth in the community, through a collaborative working 
relationship between Snowoyelh and Health Departments. 
Arrangements made with Sts’ailes School, allow for either the 
Youth Advocate or Community Wellness workers to gather 
the children right from school, as for the children that attend 
school off reserve they continue to get off the bus stop closes 
to the community wellness center to attend the program. The 
program is designed to offer support for children/youth that 
need assistance with homework but also give them a safe and 
support environment after school. 

The continued support of the Expressive Art/Play Therapist 
to offer group sessions is a highlight, most children and/or 
youth are able to participate, she has become well known 
in the community and children are happy to see her. This is 
a strength for the program as she can identify behaviours 
that our staff may have missed, thus we are able to put in 
supports that may be require for that individual child/youth 
and family system.

In most case staff learn what is going on for the children 
or youth at home and are able to offer support. But in turn 
usually opens the door for staff to support to the rest of 
the family in one way or another.  Strength of the program: 
creating a safe and supportive environment, as well safe 
supportive and trusting relationship building for children and 
youth within the community.
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YOUTH WELLNESS STRATEGY TEAM 

The Sts’ailes Youth Wellness Strategy Team was a result 
of MCFD inquiring of Youth at Risk in the Community. 
After Snowoyelh reported this at another meeting, the 
working team was started. Through collaborative working 
relationships within the Sts’ailes organization a team that 
consists of members from Snowoyelh, Health and Education 
has been created, with hopes to pull in other departments. 
This working group’s main focus is all youth in general and 
providing safe supportive environments, as well providing 
necessary information and education sessions that are 
available such as grief and loss sessions, suicide invention 
and prevention and more. The working group is in the starting 
stages of planning additional programs besides what is 
already available in the community for our youth. 

GATHERING OF TRADITIONAL MATERIALS

Snowoyelh has partnered with Sts’ailes Aboriginal Rights 
and Title Department, to assist with the mapping of all our 
traditional gathering areas. During this season participants 
are able to gather fruit, not only from Sts’ailes traditional 
territory but from other nation’s territories as well, such as 
but not limited to: berries, cherries, peaches, etc. these items 
were used by Snowoyelh programs such as but not limited to 
puberty camp, tatel and traditional food preserving to make 
such items as jams and canned fruit salad. 

Participants also were able to gather cedar used for weaving 
and making baskets. These outings are opened for elders, 
adults, youth and children to attend. Partnering with other 
band departments such as Health allows for additional 
transportation to be provided. 

During these outings the perfect atmosphere of having elders 
with our younger generations is created allowed the natural 
sharing of traditional knowledge to take place. Elders usually 
speak of the teachings that their parents passed down to 
them, which they got from their parents, and in turn they are 
passing the teachings down, this ensures that the teachings 
stay alive for our younger generations. 

FOOD PRESERVING 

This year the food preserving camps were offered in 5 
different sessions, the purpose for these sessions are not 
only to teach our families how to preserve food for the winter 
months but also to create a safe and supportive environment 
and to demonstrate to clients that our staff are here to 
support them when needed. 

We also like to try to create the natural environment for 
traditional knowledge transference to happen, which usually 
includes but is not limited to: traditional parenting, teachings, 
stories, traditional roles and responsibilities of family 
members, family trees and family history, Sts’ailes history 
and more. Having these sessions during the summer months 
allows for children and/or youth to attend and participate in 
the days. 

Although the funding that is available through the budget it 
not much, Snowoyelh tried to partner with other departments 
to offer these programs. 

Jam and Cherries 

The program was held on Friday August 18, 2017, the day 
started with a prayer followed by a demonstration and 

workstations were set up for each participant, workers 
and participants worked together and collaboratively. The 
day was set up in two sessions morning was jam and the 
afternoon was cherries. A meal was shared at lunch time 
which was also time to sit together and share more teachings 
and stories especially laughter.

With any program there are always many highlights one that 
really stood out was participants pulling/working together 
and sharing laughter together as family and demonstrating 
the traditional ways of preserving for our families. 

Another important highlight is the opportunity of our staff, 
participants being able to share the day with our elders 
in sharing their knowledge, experiences and stories of 
traditional teachings around the importance of preservation.

Tomatoes and Apple Sauce 

Tomatoe and Apple Sauce preservation was held on August 
22, 2017. The sessions were set up with the Apple sauce done 
in the morning with sharing a meal/lunch together then 
transitioning to start preserving tomatoes in the afternoon. 
A demonstration from a facilitator and elder shared their 
knowledge of preserving tomatoes and apple sauce. Once 
demo was done each participant went to stations set up 
in the kitchen and formed assembly lines when needed to 
prepare and fill their jars. Highlights with this program were, 
participants and staff working Letse’mot, enjoying each other 
traditionally, culturally and using this in healing together as 
family.

Peaches and Pears

The sessions were set up with the Peaches done on Thursday 
August 24, 2017 and Pears done on Friday August 25, 2017 
due to not being ready enough for the day before.

Participants were so grateful for getting the fruit, feedback 
was - it was hard work that made them tired, but it was a 
good tired. Some of those that attended remembered when 
they did the canning when they were young and this was 
their first time doing it again, they like the fact that there was 
elde’s there talking and sharing with them. But they were so 
grateful for everything that they had to put in their cupboard 
for the winter months.

Fish

Fish preservation was held on August 23, 2017, and August 
25, 2017.  Even though the fish preservation was done on 
two separate days one for children and one for adults, the 
program was laid out the same for each day. 

A demonstration from a facilitator and elder shared their 
knowledge of preserving fish. At each station children and 
adults cut and prepared their jars for canning. Of course the 
children had assistance cutting and were very well monitored. 
Once all jars were filled, wiped and covered staff and 
participants worked together in loading up all canners. As the 
canning of the fish takes longer staff stayed and monitored 
canning until done. 

Highlights with this program were:

Children/Youth Participants were so proud of the fish that 
they canned, they couldn’t wait to take it home to show it off 
to their families. 

The summer students (older teens 15 years, plus) were the 
ones that assisted the children/youth in canning fish, for 
some it was family members, so they got to experience it 
together, or with someone like an older sister or brother, the 
pride on the children’s faces could been seen, it is hard to put 
it into words to describe. 

On August 25, 2017, the last day of canning a traditional meal 
was shared together with staff and participants. A table was 
set up in the long house where everyone sat together and 
discussed all that took place and what each and everyone got 
out of Fish preservation as well as the other preservations 
that took place during the week.

The feedback was great from those that attended, they 
were full of good feels, they were full of good food and their 
cupboards were filled with food as well. 

Meat Preserving 

This event is to provide our families with the opportunity 
to strengthen their knowledge, awareness and self through 
spiritual and cultural teachings, practices and shared 
knowledge by working together first hand, hands on with our 
traditional seasonal foods and preserve for preservation. 

SNOWOYELH SNOWOYELH



2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT90 91

There were two programs planned to share different 
preserving methods. The days started with a demonstration’s 
from Community elders and facilitators, after the 
demonstrations participants went to their station to prepare 
their meat. The first program was canning meat, 

Once all meat was cut and portioned a traditional meal was 
shared which is a time to sit together and receive more 
stories and teachings from our elders also to hear from our 
families on what they got out of the day so far. Many stories, 
teachings and laughter was shared. 

After lunch all participants went to their work stations 
and wrapped up their meat to bring home to freeze. Each 
participant received stew, meat, ribs and ground meat. 

Feedback from participants and elders was:

“it was great working together with one mind, one heart 
Letse’mot continuing traditions by the first-hand experience 
of working to embrace the legacy of their inheritance, the 
right to practice cultural and traditional teachings.”

CULTURAL WELLNESS – DRUM GROUP

The main purpose of this group is to passing along Sts’ailes 
songs from one generation to another, but not only the 
sharing of the songs happens, stories and sharing a meal 
together are also done. Sharing our oral stories or history is 
important to our Sts’ailes people, ensuring you know who you 
are and where you come from, this helps build self-esteem for 
our young people and provide direction for their future. 

The program started in September and did complete as 
planned, for November, with a total of 8 sessions. 

The feedback from this program is always great from 
participants they don’t like the end of the programs but are 
excited to see what is coming next. 

HEALING & WELLNESS GATHERING - ABORIGINAL DAY – 
INTER-TRIBAL SOCCER

The Sts’ailes Inter-tribal Cup is meant to build community 
spirit and pride, demonstrating to our younger generations 
what was lost in our community. Utilizing former Sts’ailes 
Soccer teams names, participants are able to play on teams 
of their fore fathers played on. 

The day started a little different this year, working 
collaboratively or Letse’mot as an organization, we were able 
to tie in the reclaiming of Sts’ailes Traditional Territory and a 
pride walk. Community members, participants and staff were 

able to witness a great ceremony at a beautiful location right 
next to the Chehalis River and Children, Youth, Adults and 
Elders took part in the Pride Walk, which was roughly 3km to 
the Sts’ailes Soccer Fields in the Heart of the Community.

 55 participants, aging from 8 years old to 48 years, played 
in the Inter-Tribal Soccer Games. Eager to start the day, 
elders and staff incorporated an opening ceremony to 
share knowledge of our cultural traditions with all those in 
attendance. Covering 2 Elders (1 male and 1 female that 
played on Sts’ailes Soccer Teams in the past) and 2 children 
– 4 year old girls, represented remembering our past while 
looking towards our future. With the 55 participants 4 teams 
were created: Chehalis Chiefs, Sasquatch, Chehalis Panthers 
and the Golden Eagles. Community members, staff and even 
classes from the Community school were able to stop by 
to cheer on those that were playing, to visit with elders in 
attendance, participate in stations what were set up- Cedar 
weaving and a games station.  

Strengths of this event were the cultural sharing of 
information, bringing back community spirit and pride, 
Letse’mot – working together as an organization to support 
our community members, participants, children, youth and 
elders. 

Highlight –roughly 250 people attended this event, to play, 
spectate or volunteer their time. Some Staff volunteered their 
time to assist the Sts’ailes Recreation Program by running a 
concession, over $600 was raised for the summer recreation 
program which supports roughly 55 children/youth aging 
from 5-13 years.

STELMEXW STL’AXWTXW 

Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw is a cultural gathering that is hosted 
by the Snowoyelh program twice a year. The purpose is to 
celebrate our culture and community strengths. 

In the spirit of being Letse’mot – “Of One Mind and One 
Heart” Sts’ailes Organization collaborates as a whole, this 
is now one of four community open houses that will be held 
throughout the fiscal year. Departments are invited to have 
displays and share information with our people.

By following and believing in Sts’ailes cultural these 
ceremonies are carried from Elders before to bring in the 
Spirit of Healing to guide us to be strong and to meet our 
destiny in the future.  These Ceremonies are usually held in 
the longhouses as it was explained by elders that circle is to 
allow our people to be who they are, come from a rich culture 
that is meant for all generations and all people.  

The purpose of the gathering is to bring in the Spirit of our 
Ancestors through songs and dances. Though these songs 
and dances it is a prayer to help our people through whatever 
hardships they are going through. 

On October 25, 2017 the first Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw event was 
held, the event started with the sharing of the Sts’ailes Audit, 
feedback from many including elders and the presenter 
– “this is the first time I ever seen that take place in a 
longhouse”. But with an open heart and an open mind people 
gathered the information that was presented to them in a 
good way. 

As the past event someone was picked to be honoured this 
time around we honoured the female youth representative 
for the BC Assembly of First Nations – Angela Charlie, a 
Sts’ailes community member. Angela was sang in by Sts’ailes 
men, with her matriarchs and children at her side, with any 
ceremony there were speakers who left some really amazing 
words not only for Angela but all those in attendance. Of 
course always a favourite by our community members 
and elders there was a performance by Sts’ailes children’s 
through songs and dances, their innocence’s showed our 
older generations their true belief and strength in following 
the teachings that are being passed down to them, they 
showed they believe in their dance and it is not a show, they 
take pride in what they do. 

On February 28, 2018 the second Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw was 
hosted, in support for Anti-bullying day. This ceremony of 
events began with a Sts’ailes Youth sharing a prayer and 
Sts’ailes Elder followed with a prayers song. 

 One of the main focuses of the day was Keynote Charlene 
Belleau from Sk’etemc First Nations who shared her message 
on violence and how she came to deliver her message.  Mrs. 
Belleau also shared her message with the commitment stick 
ceremony.

As Sts’ailes recognized Mrs. Belleau’s commitment stick 
ceremony and was very fascinated with the ceremony and 
its meaning, this ceremony was done at the gathering with 
Sts’ailes Council member doing the Oath.  

After the ceremony Sts’ailes Council member gifting 
Stelmexw Stl’axwtxw with a song, this song is to be used for 
all gatherings, events and/or programs.  Drummers shared a 
celebration song and the Sasquatch dancer’s performed in 
celebration.

These strengths demonstrate the cultural knowledge 
transference from elders to our future generations, ensuring 
Sts’ailes Culture and Traditions stay alive.  

HONOURING CHILDREN & FAMILIES 

One time funding from Indigenous Prospective Society, 
Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh was able to honour Children, Youth 
and Caregivers. The main goal is to connect 'children in care' 
or 'children in danger of being in care', with their families and 
their culture, Through the development of 'Cultural Plans' 
for Sts'ailes children in care, Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh has 
noted that 'honouring' children is integral to their wellbeing. 
The objective is to instil a sense of pride and cultural identity 
in the children being honoured and further, by bringing the 
children together with all their families (immediate, extended 
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and foster) and letting them know how very much they are 
loved, the second objective is to let them know that they are 
indeed special and important, to connect them with where 
they are from, to the land they come from, to the elders and 
their teachings. Snowoyelh staff support the events through 
preparation and attending the events. 

The Honouring Ceremony initiative began, with the original 
intent of hosting 10 Honouring Ceremonies for the 38 
Sts’ailes children in care that were listed.  This list is a mixture 
of CCO’s, TCO’s, EFP’s, 54.01, 54.1, IFI’s, court ordered 
custody, and it was compiled by Te Emi:melh Management, 
Te Emi:melh Staff and MCFD Staff. The planning and delivery 
of the Honouring Ceremonies was carried out by the planning 
team noted previously. In the 11 Honoring Ceremonies held, 
45 children/youth were honored, along with 48 parents/
extended families/caregivers. 

The feedback from families is great, they are happy to see 
the pride in the children at the events, sharing of teachings, 
protocol and practices is ensuring the preservation for future 
generations.  

KEEPSAKE BOX PROJECT 

One time funding from Indigenous Prospective Society, 
Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh was able to work with identified 
Sts’ailes Children and/or Youth to create a keepsake box for 
the special and personal belongings. 

Snowoyelh Te Emi:melh did a number of ‘keepsake box’ 
decorating parties for the children and youth in care.  To 
undertake the Keepsake Box Decorating initiative, organizers 
gathered the necessary items such as but not limited to: 
Keepsake boxes, Picture templates, including many native 
designs, for the boxes, multi-coloured felt material for the 
picture templates, wide variety of decorative stick on items, 
a picture frame for each, a photo album for each, a stuffed 
animal for each and no party would be complete without pop, 
chips, cake and other goodies. 

In addition to having all the necessary supplies for 
decorating the boxes, it was also important to create a ‘party’ 
atmosphere for the participants.  To create this atmosphere, 
party invitations were sent to each participant; cake, pop, 
chips and cookies were bought for snacks and the room is 
decorated for the festive occasion. At the decorating parties, 
the youth made some awesome boxes! The Keepsake Project 
was a great success!  The youth /children not only had fun, 
but they got to make a special box to keep their treasures in.  
This event truly emphasized to the children again that they 
are indeed special.

HEALTHY RELATIONSHIPS 

Healthy Relationships main goals and objectives of the 
program were to self-empower participants to build healthy 
relationships by bringing awareness to what abuse is and 
how to communicate in relationship. This program was a 10 
session program for couples. Sessions were held once weekly 
at Letse’mot Awtexw. Sessions began with a circle followed 
by dinner and then the lesson plan and ending with a closing 
circle.

A 3 day retreat at the Sasquatch Eco Lodge provided a safe 
environment for participants to complete the program, 
with the added support of elder couples. This retreat also 
provided the opportunity for the couples to have and learn 
the importance of quality time together as a couple. This was 
modeled by having dinner and a movie, “date night.” We also 
had the opportunity to have a boat tour of the stories and 
legends of Sts’ailes. 

GRIEF AND LOSS SESSION 

There were 2 sessions held at the community’s request, along 
with the sessions there were requested to have one-on-one 
sessions rather than a group session. Sessions took place 
in Letse’mot Awtexw, starting with a meal and opening song 
or prayer. As a group guidelines were established, creating 
a sense of security, each session opened with round table 
introductions. 

Participants were then engaged in various exercises and 
ceremonies to bring awareness of their grief and loss. 
Participants also focused on self-care and awareness. Each 
participant was asked to create a self-care medicine wheel 
that they took home with them as a reminder of their self-
care plan. There were also requests for one-on-one sessions, 
and asked if family could get the same support if they were 
willing. 

CHILDREN & YOUTH GROUPS – GATHERING OUR 
VOICES CONFERENCE  

This program is offered in collaboration with Sts’ailes Health 
and Education Departments. The youth were so excited to 
attend this conference; there were 12 youth from Sts’ailes 
that attended with 4 chaperones. The youth were broken up 
into 3 groups of 4 leaving the lead chaperone available to 
assist when and where needed.  Youth participated in many 
different workshops such as drum making, Archery, games 
workshop, and more. The chaperones allowed the youth to 
make some decisions such as where to eat dinner, shopping 
time and attending the dance. Overall the youth were very 
respectful and worked together as a team to make these 
choices. 

This was quite an experience for not only for the youth but 
the chaperones, there were over 1000 youth that attended 
the gathering, along with their chaperones. The workshops 
benefited the youth as well as the chaperones. The 
chaperones got to witness the youth working together, having 
fun, bonding with each other and creating new friendships. 

“We don’t own our children; we teach them and guide  
them on their Journey” 

“It takes a whole Community to raise a child”

Highlight: the youth want to plan a fundraiser to get 
matching sweat shirts because some of the other nations 
groups had them, planning for next year’s conference already. 

STS’AILES COMMUNITY EVENTS

Sts’ailes Snowoyelh staff volunteer or assist at many 
community events such as but not limited to First Salmon 
Ceremony, Community Cultural Events such as Burnings, 
Sasquatch Days, Sts’ailes New Year, Halloween Bash, 
Community Christmas Dinner and more. 

Snowoyelh staff not only volunteer time, they also get 
clients (Adults, children and Youth) to volunteer with them 
to organize, prepare in a variety of different areas- gift 
wrapping, meal prep, meal serving, handing out gifts, clean 
up, etc., but they also take time to attend the event.  Not all 
clients volunteer but most of our clients attend a majority of 
these event demonstrating their personal growth to attend 
community events being more visible in the community. 
Snowoyelh Programs also support community event by 
making give away items or gifts special guests. 

SASQUATCH DAYS 

MCFD does not provide funding for this event – however 
Snowoyelh staff volunteer time to coordinate and run this 
event. 

History: This event is a historical Sts’ailes event that has 
been revived for the Sts’ailes people. A collaborative working 
relationship between Sts’ailes and the Village of Harrison 
Hot Springs makes this event a success every year. Through 
traditional war canoe races, Sts’ailes like other nations is able 
to host canoe clubs from throughout the Fraser Valley, as 
well from Vancouver Island and Washington State USA.  The 
event starts with a process of Sts’ailes people with a welcome 
from respected elders, along with a traditional welcome from 
our children/youth through dance that has been shared for 
generations. Canoe clubs are welcomed with true Sts’ailes 
hospitality by receiving a welcome basket containing food, 
materials and supplies to assist them over the weekend. 

Event: The event seems to be growing and we are one of 
the races that focuses a lot of races to children and youth - 
roughly 120 children aging 5 years, roughly 100 youth aging 
10 years and under, roughly 100 youth aging 13 years and 
under and roughly 100 youth aging 16 years and under all 
participated in this event over the weekend, not to mention 
roughly 210 adults (male and female) that participated. 

Many of these clubs actively demonstrate traditional 
generational knowledge transference. Traditional War Canoe 
Racing promotes a healthy active lifestyle for all those that 
participate. Not only is it a drug and alcohol free lifestyle, it 
promotes healthy eating and nutrition for children and youth. 
The commitment to this lifestyle is a lot in itself, training is 
every day and races are every weekend. 

Many Sts’ailes children and youth that are at risk participate 
in this event, focusing their time to training and following 
teachings keeps them from going into care. This event is also 
a great social event for everyone that attends a lot of visiting, 
family connection or reconnection taking place as well 
community pride and self-pride for those that participates in 
the races. 

This event is open to the public to attend therefore there are 
wide range of people that attend to observe what is taking 
place – traditional war canoe races, traditional performances, 
traditional food and so much more.Sts’ailes elders are always 
happy to attend this event – it helps them to see that our 
younger generations have a future, with our traditions being 
carried on for future generations and also an opportunity to 
socialize with friends, family and their extended families.

SNOWOYELH SNOWOYELH



2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT94 95

DEPT. MANAGER  

Jolie Lawrence 
Sel Ya:al

TE LALEM 

Te Lalem translates to the House. This is a powerful word to Sts’ailes people, as all 
family business and decisions are commonly made in one’s family home. Te Lalem is 
designed to promote and develop capacity of individuals, families and Communities 
to care for and protect their children and to support families in development of 
positive parenting and life skills.

Our Goal

To bring together involved family, community members and appropriate 
professionals in a support system (CARE TEAM) to support and educate individuals 
& families while enhancing their strengths and addressing identified child protection 
concerns.

History

Te Lalem is a Ministry Specialized Resource, a collaborative partnership between 
Sts’ailes and Ministry of Child and Family Development (MCFD). The program 
is intended to keep families together while parents learn to safely care for their 
children. Families (parents and children) are accepted into the program through a 
social worker referral. Length of stay is based on each family’s unique plan.

Since 2008 Te Lalem has worked with 38 parents and 51 children as of October 
2018. This home is staffed 24-hours a day 7 days a week to support families to care 
for their children. Parents learn a holistic manner how to balance self-care, basic life 
skills and parenting.

Te Lalem staff support and advocate for Families (parent/s & children) that enter 
the program. Working together, with respect and integrity, to address and resolve 
family issues weaving culture and traditions in the best interest of Family Units 
(parent(s) & children) that are in or have been through the Te Lalem Program.

Criteria

Te Lalem is open to Indigenous people who meet the criteria: (Priority sequence: 
Sts’ailes, East Fraser District, Indigenous. **part of criteria is pairing compatible 
families.)

• Participants agree to Sts’ailes Te Lalem policy of zero tolerance in regards to 
alcohol, drug or violence

• Child protection concerns are present among reasons for making referral

• Agree to following the Te Lalem Program Client Guidelines

• Personal income (social or any other income) will be arranged before entering Te 
Lalem

• A percentage of personal monies will be given to the program. This contribution 
will cover their (family) portions:

• Food and transportation costs

• Adults are also responsible for extra transport or cigarette costs

• Be willing to commit to program with their children, for duration agreed to and set by Care Team, 
understand that Exiting will be an agreement in the same process, in a Care Team with Social worker.

• Agree to actively participate in household maintenance and routine.

• Must be willing to share facility with other program participants

• Must have at minimum of 30 days clean of alcohol or drugs

Referral/Application Process:

1. 2 part Application (both need to be submitted for screening)
2. Screen by Panel Committee (Contact will be made to Social Worker)
3. Site Visit & Interview (will be set if all criteria is met)
 
Program

Participants will work with Te Lalem staff to develop and implement individualized safety and support 
plans & when developing these plans may include, and are not limited to:

• Basic life skills development & support
• Budget skills & Debt counseling
• Menu planning & nutritional education
• Meal prep for family & community events
• Family Routine & Planning
• Parenting (traditional & Contemporary)
• Child development & child care
• Family connection and reconnection
• Cultural practices ie: sweat lodge & Spiritual cleansing & prayer
• Cultural counseling
• Conflict resolution & Codependency
• Physical fitness & recreational programs
• Alcohol & Drug counseling
• Education & career exploration

 
Build a solid EXIT Plan
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DEPT. MANAGER  
David Peters 
Setl’etel

Ey’ Swayel (good day) on behalf of Telmexw Awtexw Healing Centre.  Telmexw 
Awtexw is the name that was given to our Aboriginal Wellness Healing Centre 
by Sts’ailes Siyam Siyelyolexwa (Respected Elders).  TA is part of Snowoyelh 
Department.  TA has three full time Community Wellness Workers, one part-time 
Community Wellness Worker, one Administrative Assistant, and one Manager. TA 
provides services for on-reserve and off-reserve individuals who are seeking support 
with substance abuse issues, grief and loss, trauma, and men’s program.

TA offers transportation to and from the wellness Centre.  TA Wellness Workers are 
trained to provide support with healing and recovery primarily with addiction from 
alcohol and drugs.  The Wellness Workers provide counselling service to support 
healthy living.  We believe that by using our culture and spirituality is essential 
component of the service’s provided as it facilitates the key area of healing “Culture 
is Medicine”.  

PROGRAM COMPONENTS

Addictions Management, Living Skills/Life Management, Anger Management, 
Domestic Violence, Wellness Planning, Relapse Prevention, Self-Care Planning, Grief 
& Loss Support, Men’s Group, 1-1 Counselling/Cultural Counselling.

GROUP SESSIONS

Sts’ailes Cultural Teachings & Gatherings, Sts’ailes Ceremonies, Seven Laws of 
Life, Healing Circles, Medicine Wheel Teachings, Seasonal Activities, Sweat Lodge, 
Drumming & Singing, Cedar Bark Weaving, AA/NA meetings (Agassiz, & Seabird).

Telmexw Awtexw is one of the three branches of the Snowoyelh Department.  Our 
program and service delivery is governed by Snowoyelh and rooted in the Sts’ailes 
Culture and is guided by teachings of our respected elders and ancestors.  

TELMEXW AWTEXW

SNOWOYELH

TELMEXW AWTEXW PROPOSAL

I am excited to announce that Telmexw Awtexw  was 
approved to develop a full Treatment Centre Plan which is 
a positive step towards becoming a Residential Treatment 
Centre.  This proposal is to develop a full treatment plan, 
develop policies and protocols that combine the best of the 
western and traditional approaches to wellness, determine 
wise practices that reflect the values and traditions of 
the Fraser Salish people while ensuring that the people 
are gaining the experience, skills, tools and confidence to 
be active members of their communities.  Once we have 
completed a full treatment plan we can work towards funding 
for capital dollars to build a new facility.  Funding for this 
project was approved through First Nations Health Authority 
and In-Kind Contribution from Sts’ailes Band.  

PROGRAM UPDATE

Community Day Program

• Eight Session Program
• Participants must be 7 days clean and sober to attend
• Identify as an aboriginal person
• Complete application forms

Kwikwexelhp Programs Day Program & Trauma Program.  
Telmexw Awtexw has a partnership with Correctional Service 
Canada (CSC) to deliver the two programs:

Day Program

• 12 sessions to deal with substance abuse issues
• This program is run twice per year
• This program is exclusive for Kwi residents only and not 

for community members
 
Trauma Program

• 15 sessions to run the trauma program
• This program is run twice per year
• This program we can have up to four community members 

participate with the  Kwìkwèxwelhp residents

SNOWOYELH

ADMISSION STATISTICS

38
TOTAL NUMBER OF 

APPLICANTS

44
ADMITTED TO  

DAY PROGRAM

104
ADMITTED TO 

AFTERCARE PROGRAM

69
ADMITTED TO THE 

FAMILY INTERVENTION

45
SPECIAL REQUESTS 

(SWEATS, ETC.)

COMMUNITY EVENTS & PROGRAMS

Attending and or hosting annual events is an essential 
component to our programming to witness or to having 
participants actively contributing as a way to their healing 
journey.

• Annual Youth Soccer Tournament
• Gathering Sage/Grandfather Rocks
• Cedar Harvesting
• Walk for Depression
• Puberty Camp
• Honoring Ceremonies
• National Addictions Awareness Week
• Family Violence (Preservation Program) Snowoyelh Programs
• Community Forums
• Women’s Program – Snowoyelh Programs
• E.T.A.’s Kwi residents for wood cutting
• Kwi Ceremonies & Gatherings
• Cultural Ceremonies at Charlie Longhouse
• Community Burning
• Community School Prevention Assembly (grades 7 – 12)
• Sasquatch Days
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MESSAGE FROM  
THE CEO

On behalf of the Sts’ailes Development Corporation (SDC) I am pleased to present the 
Annual Report for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. The report provides highlights and achievements 
throughout all of our business sectors.

As Sts’ailes became more directly involved in mainstream economic development, Council 
reflected on 3 main considerations when structuring the development corporation 10 years 
ago: 

1. minimizing liability exposure;

2. maximizing profits (by minimizing taxes and avoiding the potential for claw backs by 
Canada on own source revenues); and;

3. separating political considerations from business decisions by creating a governance 
structure taylored specifically to manage the business affairs of the Nation.

As we approach the 10 year anniversary of the founding of the SDC in 2009, the coming 
months will see Council reflecting on where we came from, what we have accomplished 
in enhancing existing businesses, what we have tried and decided not to pursue, the new 
businesses and jobs created as well as various longer term development activities now 
underway. 

In terms of key activities over the last year, much of our executive efforts have been devoted to 
the clean energy sector. Following an extensive bid process and due diligence to select a lender 
who will finance the development and construction for the Bremner and Trio Hydro projects, 
a term sheet identifying bridge loan conditions was prepared for conclusion in Fall 2018. With 
support from the office of the Sts’ailes Chief Negotiator we met various challenges put before 
us by provincial government agencies and a neighboring First Nation. Fortunately we were able 
to obtain all the financial support needed from the lender to cover our significant legal and 
consultant costs.

Also, a major business plan and high level research was undertaken to determine viability of 
establishing a domestic lumber drying operation (kiln) on reserve lands. This included working 
with a major forest product company to provide lumber for drying under long term contract 
as well as to jointly produce hemlock laminated stock for international export.  The SDC Board 
has recommended to Council that Sts’ailes should participate in the creation of a new Kiln 
business. Council will decide on whether or not to invest in the coming months along with 
selecting a suitable site on reserve.

We are also proud to report that our flagship enterprise, the Chehalis Store, enjoyed record 
profits over the last year due primarily to re-branding under the Fas Gas banner. This included 
upgrades to new pumps and signage. We also secured financial resources to cover a major 
portion of costs to build a dry storage addition.
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As environmental stewards your Fisheries sector continued to lead in working to restore critical 
salmon eco system waterways back to productive habitat for salmon. A plan is underway to 
increase our participation in this important work. An on line bidding platform was developed 
which will assist in breaking our dependence on fish brokers and thus create jobs in Sts’ailes 
and increase revenues. Our plans to build a boat launch and wharf at the Beach were delayed 
due to backlogs in the provincial permitting process as well as a short window in which we can 
legally undertake construction in fisheries habitat. Look to next August for completion.

At the request of the Aboriginal Rights & Title Dept., SDC established a lands holding company 
to hold fee simple lands that they negotiated with the province. This will include lakeside 
properties at 10 Mile Bay and a parcel adjacent the reserve lands between the Store and Middle 
Road. Council will decide on the best use of these lands over the coming months. SDC may be 
asked to assist in identifying best commercial use of these lands and to develop them as well.

SDC Finance reports a net profit of $236,231 for 2017-18. We engaged MNP LLP, Chartered 
Professional Accountants to compile the statements of the financial position of each of SDC’s 
business operations as well as the statement of operations and accumulated surplus. 

These are some of the key highlights in 2017-18. Other important developments follow in this 
report covering existing businesses, new businesses and others in development stages. 

The SDC Board of Directors and staff are proud to serve and meet its Council mandate in the 
creation of a vibrant economy for Sts’ailes. We look forward to continued success. 

ROBERT LAGASSÉ  |  Xéylsqóyeplexw 

Chief Executive Officer 

Sts’ailes Development Corporation



2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT104 105



2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT 2018  Sts’ailes ANNUAL REPORT106 107

BUSINESS SECTOR HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE PERIOD 2009 - 2018

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

ORIGINAL BUSINESSES PRIOR  
TO 2009

MAJOR / HIGH LEVEL ACCOMPLISHMENTS AFTER 2009 FOLLOWING 
INCORPORATION OF SDC

Chehalis Store & Gas Bar (formerly at 
old Band Office and at former Café)

New Store built 2008. 2 expansions completed since, using 75% granted funds 
for freezer and dry storage; Fas Gas rebrand agreement provided for a $80k grant 
towards improvements (new pumps, canopy upgrade, e-sign). Restoration project 
re environmental issue. A successful application to a federal program provided an 
$80k grant to supply and install a backup propane generator.  Major increase in 
sales and customer satisfaction. 

Camp Cove Currently managed under Store operations. Major access road/site upgrade 
undertaken. Land Use Dev Plan required upon securing the property from BC.

Fisheries DFO Contracts & ESSR Management of DFO program agreements and seasonal sales of surplus fish from 
DFO facilities.

Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem – Wellness 
Program services

Closed off former program and transformed to economic development entity. Paid 
off InterVarsity loan. Three major facility renos (new roof at main facility; built new 
residence/cottage; transformation of residence/horse barn to Treatment facility). 
Major investment in high speed internet. Returns an annual profit, job creation and 
training.

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Sortyard Rentals / Industrial Park Following the shutdown of the Readi-Mix in the early 90’s, Forestry transformed 
the area into a licensed sortyard. Aside from use by Sts’ailes forestry, Teal 
Jones established an operation over the next few years until they left in mid-
2000. The land remained vacant for several years following. Currently SDC is 
in the process of transforming the sortyard into a commercial land lease entity. 
Recent former tenants: Flatiron Graham; Innergex. Current new lease tenants: 
Maharg Construction; Eclipse Transport. Under consideration:  Rokstad Power; 
Ledingham; Sts’ailes kiln project (adjacent lands). Rebranding/naming subject to 
Chief & Council including kiln site and development.

Woodlot (1997); Sts’ailes Natural 
Resources re: Provincial FCRSA  
tenure (1994)

Established Sasquatch FP (LP); near completion of transfer of Non-Replaceable 
Forest Licence to new First Nation Woodland area-based licence; obtained BC 
Timber Sales contract to manage a trial volume.
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W1698 A
SCHEDULE_B
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W1435 A
SCHEDULE_A
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SCHEDULE_B

W0044
A SCHEDULE_B

W0044 B
SCHEDULE_B

Sts'ailes -
Mt. Woodside

Block 3

Sts'ailes
- Statlu
Block 2

Sts'ailes - West
Harrison Block 1

Sts'ailes FNWL Blocks

Road Tenure
Road Permit

Forest Service Roads

Provincial Parks

WHA 2-515

Woodlot Addition Area

Recreation Sites and Reserves

THLB Contributing Class Codes
Contributing

Non Contributing

Partial Contributing

Excluded

Woodlots

Land status and Ownership
Crown Grant

Indian Reserve

Created By:  Chilliwack District
Date: September 18, 2017
Scale: 1:60,000 O

Sts'ailes Proposal 6 - First Nations Woodland Licence Timber Harvesting Land Base 
Disturbance has been updated to April 2017

FIR CEDAR HEMLOCK BALSAM OTHER CONIFER DECIDUOUS
Sts'ailes Block 1 - West Harrison
0-20 Years 1,939 1,799 642 107 428 8 0 51 1,236 9,878
21-40 Years 529 500 12,963 1,563 3,996 4,377 1,214 1,467 25,580 2,726
41-60 Years 2,688 2,500 173,435 29,185 106,878 89,492 10,990 43,902 453,882 13,707
61-80 Years 1,557 1,186 273,332 23,642 91,010 3,148 4,831 67,943 463,906 6,512
81+ Years 2,881 1,366 333,570 28,743 142,080 60,732 14,012 28,062 607,198 7,472
Sts'ailes Block 1 - West Harrison Total 9,594 7,351 793,943 83,240 344,392 157,756 31,047 141,425 1,551,803 40,296
Sts'ailes Block 2 - Statlu
0-20 Years 328 295 227 60 841 40 0 0 1,169 1,371
21-40 Years 1,619 1,524 10,573 10,641 63,462 29,251 1,584 3,514 119,025 7,102
41-60 Years 1,413 1,122 43,940 38,532 149,883 140,041 3,302 10,834 386,533 5,204
61-80 Years 609 365 12,111 22,008 94,854 85,809 4,554 18,983 238,320 1,692
81+ Years 3,894 701 30,855 62,643 166,789 76,300 29,261 17,248 383,095 3,230
Sts'ailes Block 2 - Statlu Total 7,862 4,006 97,707 133,884 475,830 331,441 38,701 50,579 1,128,141 18,598
Sts'ailes Block 3 - Mt. Woodside
0-20 Years 503 441 429 106 605 0 0 117 1,256 2,190
21-40 Years 19 15 104 126 156 0 0 1,319 1,705 73
41-60 Years 594 478 60,746 9,424 70,247 23,869 135 21,079 185,499 2,377
61-80 Years 845 623 133,463 16,415 139,305 2,589 6,915 39,318 338,005 3,097
81+ Years 1,443 860 275,556 22,711 148,949 4,726 3,519 34,178 489,640 4,272
Sts'ailes Block 3 - Mt. Woodside Total 3,404 2,417 470,297 48,782 359,262 31,184 10,569 96,010 1,016,104 12,008
Grand Total 20,861 13,774 1,361,946 265,906 1,179,484 520,381 80,316 288,015 3,696,048 70,901

Sts'ailes Proposed First Nations 
Woodland Licence / Areas of 

Interest/ AGE CLASS

CROWN 
FOREST 

AREA (HA)

THLB 
AREA 
(HA)

TIMBER HARVESTING LAND BASE VOLUME (m3)
TOTAL THLB 

VOLUME 
(m3)

ANNUAL 
YIELD 

(m3/yr)

Provincial Recreation Sites 
Management Agreement

SDC manages 7 rec sites under contract with BC. Site expansion under 
consideration at Chehalis River and Weaver Lake sites.
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Negotiated new increased shares of sockeye and chum for our FSC (21,250 and 
3,000 respectively) and for Economic Opportunities (EO) commercial purposes 
(13.4% share of Harrison River Sockeye TAC, 0.46 % of the Fraser River sockeye 
TAC, and 5% of the Fraser chum TAC).

2015

NEW BUSINESSES ESTABLISHED 
SINCE INCORPORATION (2009) 

MAJOR / HIGH LEVEL ACCOMPLISHMENTS AFTER 2009 FOLLOWING 
INCORPORATION OF SDC

Sts’ailes Fisheries 2008 – 2018: Structured under a Governance / Science / Ec Dev model.

In the last 10 years Sts’ailes Fisheries has created 3 full time career jobs, generated 
up to 75 seasonal jobs each year, and recorded more than $6 million in fisheries 
programming grants and contributions, including approximately $3 million in local 
fisheries employment, managed nearly $1 million in fish habitat restoration, and $2 
million in capital infrastructure. Capital investments included: Sts’ailes Fisheries 
Center and logistics equipment –(boats,motors,trucks,totes, etc), market hub at 
Chehalis Store (freezer and dry storage plus back-up generator), and a logistics 
center in Steveston Harbor for export of our locally-branded salmon products.  
Almost every fishing season the HSP spends up to $900,000 to purchase salmon 
from our fishers and invests another $200-$300,000 in capital infrastructure at 
Sts’ailes. Our development work with the fishers and the Cooperative has increased 
the value of our salmon 11 fold. Our co-management efforts assist in protecting 
Sts'ailes fishing rights and title, and our science programming is restoring ailing 
salmon stocks and their habitats.

Key milestones / accomplishments:

Sts’ailes Fisheries Strategic Plan (balancing policy, science and ec dev.)

MOU with Sts’ailes and Sq’éwlets for joint governance of fisheries as basis for 
Harrison Fisheries Authority (focusing on a new collaborative relationship between 
our communities and fishers).

Negotiated separate bilateral co-management agreement for Harrison Fisheries 
Authority.

Sts’ailes was appointed management lead for Harrison Salmon Stronghold, the only 
one in Canada. Other international partners are in Russia, Japan, US State of Alaska 
and Washington.

Fishers Forum created for Sts’ailes and Sq’éwlets fishers consultations. Serves as a 
fishery advisory forum to the SDC Portfolio.

Incorporated Harrison Salmon Producers (HSP), a joint fisheries business with 
Sts’ailes and Sq’éwlets. 

Incorporated River Select Fisheries Cooperative – HSP joined 4 other inland river 
First Nations to share professional labor that replaces brokers and allows us to 
improve profits and employment in our fishery. Added value products created under 
River Select brand.

Published Harrison Salmon Stronghold Strategic plan (that was endorsed by Dr. 
David Suzuki) to protect our fishery.

2008 

2009 

2010 

2012

2014

2014

2010 

2011

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

2018

2018

2016 Initiated a $300,000 habitat restoration plan worth $10 million over next 10 years 
to restore lost salmon habitats in the Harrison River Habitat. Coordinated with 
AR&T, the clean energy sector, gov’t agencies and stakeholders including funders 
Pacific Salmon Foundation, DFO and Port Metro Vancouver regarding various 
agreements and contracts.

Introduced an on-line bidding platform through our Coop that improved 
orderliness in the fishery (eliminated family and community conflicts over 
brokers), enhanced fishery profits by nearly 300%, and institutionalized a new 
profit share for fishers on top of local prices.

Established a DFO funded Logistics Centre at Steveston Harbour and leased to 
Organics Oceans.
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SSS Joint Venture JV established to deliver on $22.5m BC Hydro contract in partnership between SDC, 
Cheam and Seabird Island FN’s for clearing and road building for the Interior to 
Lower Mainland transmission line.

Land Sea Camps Joint Venture    Formed Joint Venture to provide remote camp services. The JV obtained 2 major 
contracts in Clean Energy sector, including job creation at Big Silver Hydro project; 
Bremner Trio Hydro project.

Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Established 2009; Green Tourism certification; BC Gov’t Approved Travel 
Accommodation listing web site and e-bookings.

Formed Sts’ailes Eco Energy Development LP (SEED LP) to hold ownweship 
positions in clean energy businesses. 

Entered an Ec Dev Agreement; completed a study of hydroelectric potential in 
Sts’ailes Territory with partner; completed restoration of 3 Innergex financed 
sloughs on IR5 at Dan/Charlie/Mack sloughs; negotiated and delivered on SDC 
logging and camp services contracts; Chief Negotiator and CEO negotiated $250k 
Amenity Agreement (on-going projects).

Formed SEED (Sakwi) LP entity. Project built; obtained contract for joint 
venture with Nations Const.; obtained a 30 month contract for office rental and 
accommodation at Sts’ailes Lhawathet Lalem; land clearing and logging contract 
for Sasquatch Forest Products. Negotiated financing of 30% ownership position of 
the project for $1.4 million; islanding component; Fisheries led the Frank Dan slough 
restoration financed by the project. Refinancing currently under consideration.

Formed SEED (Bremner Trio) LP entity to hold an equity ownership position valued 
at 10% of 2 projects; combined capital budget of $200,000,000; completed due 
diligence and negotiated financing term sheets, and other agreements, to acquire 
$3.2m shares and hold the IBA’s 6% granted equity; obtained a $5,000,000 loan 
from First Nations Finance Authority at a preferred rate and negotiated a sub-loan 
agreement to lend BTHCorp the funds at higher rate under long term guaranteed 
returns; applied for and obtained a grant of $500,000 from BC towards equity 
participation. Participated jointly with Chief Negotiator in various due diligence re 
shareholder agreement, financing and transfer to new majority owner CC&L to be 
concluded in 2018 / 19.

CEO appointed as Sts’ailes Representative during construction phase of projects. 
Support obtained from Chief Negotiator.

Clean Energy Sector

Innergex

WindRiver / CCL

Bremner Trio  
Hydro Projects

Sts’ailes IBA’s with Innergex for 
Tretheway and Big Silver Hydro Projects

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Sts’ailes Land Development Trust 
(SLDT)

Land holdings entity now structured for SLDT to serve as registered owner of fee 
simple lands and hold Crown Lands negotiated by AR&T for LS8 (done) and 10MB 
properties (awaiting). Land Use Dev Plan is required to assist Council to determine 
best use of properties.

Sasquatch Crossing RV Resort Business plan complete using $40k ABC funds- not implemented due to lack of 
borrowing capacity and increased local competition. Could be revived, subject to 
market conditions and Council decision on land use. Potential to enter into sales of 
a portion of property for wetlands conservation purposes.

NEW BUSINESSES PROPOSED / IN 
THE WORKS

STATUS

Arctic Char Aquaculture A closed containment facility on reserve. Business Plan complete – not supported 
by Chief and Council due to concern of potenial cross- contamination with 
Harrison salmon stocks. Newer technology now available may allow this project to 
be reconsidered in the future. 

Carbon Sequestration A 2010 pilot project desktop study; subject to obtaining sequestration rights in 
Sts’ailes Territory including on IR 5 with potential partner Ecosystems Restoration 
Association.

Kiln Lumber Drying A study and research program for drying hemlock lamina stock and other 
lumber products. Raised $300k grant ($125k capital; $175 planning). Business 
Plan complete and implementation underway. MOU with Teal Jones for volume 
complete; borrowing capacity and site location currently under consideration by 
Council. Research continues.

First Nation Woodland Licence Transformation of the Sts’ailes volume based license to an area based license. The 
area/volume will be doubled to accommodate a timber management agreement 
with BC Timber Sales who have agreed to having SFP manage their forest tenure 
volume to cutting permit, on a fee basis. Combined volume may reach 70,000 m3 
annually. May include an opportunity for SDC to market BCTS volume in the future. 

Nations Construction and SDC Joint 
Venture

A formal partnership is currently in progress. Sts’ailes projects that could be 
undertaken, amongst others, include Community Health Centre; Elders Supported 
Living facility; Hall replacement; Treatment Centre; Kiln project; Store car wash.

Paint Ball Field at Lhawathet Desktop study. Internal discussions only. Further review to be undertaken when 
capacity can be identified to undertake the feasibility.

Lookout Lake Pumped Storage A proposed 200 - 300 MW project with Innergex & US partner. SDC obtained 
water, land and investigative permits. Financial model and U.S. market under 
consideration. Term sheet to follow.

Trans Mountain Pipeline Expansion 
Project

SDC applied for and obtained a $50k grant to participate in negotiations of an 
IBA including employment, training and business opportunities associated with 
the TMX project. Assembled a team of AR&T, May’t, Chief Negotiator and SDC to 
develop and implement a plan to explore participation. The project lapsed due to 
Kinder Morgan unable to initiate the project due to major opposition. Participation 
subject to review based on new federal ownership.
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Permanent Pole Desktop study on a log turning partnership, including relocating on reserve. 
Originally, the owner was keen but changed his mind. 

Rokstad Power Company Signed Letter Of Understanding to partner on BC Hydro Fraser Valley contracts 
with Aboriginal set-aside. To be formalized under a Collaboration and Services 
Agreement currently under review.

Economic Development Agreement  
(ECDA) with Berezan group re: 
Sasquatch Mtn. Resort development

Awaiting further direction from AR&T on ECDA/Sasquatch Resort Master Plan and 
partnership opportunities throughout development.

Statlu Sand & Gravel Desktop study on providing a fuel services company. SS&G company was 
dissolved.

Tim Horton’s Mini Franchise at Store Preliminary investigation with our Parkland Fuel services partner indicates the 
heavy demand for Tim Horton major franchises precludes their involvement in our 
mini franchise proposition. Other franchises under consideration.

Community Health Centre Completed the 2012 Concost Preliminary Feasibility Study of the Sas’qets Village 
Development for the Health and AR&T Depts. Currently awaiting agency funds 
to update the study including source/model of equity for direct investment to 
capitalize the project. May now include Elders assisted living facility. Site tbd (LS1 
or LS8). May include small strip mall. Opportunity to JV on construction.

Provincial Film Commission (PFC) Working with the PFC and AR&T to register various Sts’ailes filming sites for film 
production scouting locations. Land use fees and facilities rentals opportunity.

Bottled Water 2 desktop studies: Dr. Kyoung Mann Cho Korean Group; Sweet Rain client Tingyi 
Holdings Company – not implemented due to inability to obtain Asian markets and 
major pre-marketing costs.

Cannabis Production Facility Desktop study – Proposal to partner with a FN’s company was not supported by 
Chief and Council siting various concerns that this business line was in conflict 
with the objectives of the proposed Community Health Centre and the proposed 
D&A Treatment Centre, amongst other social concerns.

Store Car Wash Preliminary study with Berezan Group, owners of Sasquatch Mountain Resort. 
System, costs and location under consideration by both parties.

Chehwo:lhp Village Joint Venture A 2010 desktop study in collaboration with Berezan Group to establish a tourism 
JV at Cottonwood Beach as part of Hemlock Resort Master Plan 2009. Unable 
to implement due to lay off of Tourism Officer due to RMAP. Opportunity at other 
Harrison Lake locations (CC; 10MB) may be considered.

Container Loading & Shipping 
Operation; Lumber Resaw & Planing; 
Waste Heat System

These 3 opportunities are Kiln Project ‘added value’ prospects being considered 
and are subject to Kiln project being established. The waste heat business could 
service a greenhouse operation and / or a district heating system (ie Sts’ailes 
buildings).

Sts’ailes Drug & Alcohol Treatment 
Centre

Opportunity to JV on construction for this proposed initiative. Potential for SDC to 
construct for Sts’ailes. Internal discussions only (in 5 Year 2016-21 Plan).

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Outdoor Adventures Company Preliminary review of request/proposal by company to rent 10MB; land use 
currently under review by AR&T. Potential partnership.

Log & Timber Frame Manufacturing Feasibility undertaken in 2010 to identify viability of manufacturing home 
components. Feasibility did not support a factory.

Diesel Card Lock Under consideration with Parkland Fuel.
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NOTICE TO READER

On the basis of infonnation provided by management, we have compiled the balance sheet of Sts'ailes 

Development Limited Partnership as at March 31, 2018 and the statements of earnings and partners' capital 

for the year then ended. We have not perfonned an audit or a review engagement in respect of these financial 

statements and, accordingly, we express no assurance thereon. Readers are cautioned that these statements 

may not be appropriate for their purposes. 

Chilliwack, British Columbia

June 6, 2018

1 - 45780 Yale Road, Chilliwack, British Columbia, V2P 2N4, Phone: (604) 792-1915, 1 (800) 444-4070

Chartered Professional Accountants

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

Assets 
Current 
Trade and other receivables  
Inventory  
Prepaid expenses and deposits

328,980 
131,553 
777,380 

1,237,913 

4,966,411 

493,338

5,325,804

(359,393) 

4,966,411

145,425 
47,566

-
215,030 
344,558

2,975,919

170,886
256,047
66,405

4,269,763
154,864 
407,839

Property, plant and equipment 
Due from River Select Co-Operative
Investment in Seabird-Sts'ailes-Cheam ILM Joint Venture 
Due from Sasquatch Crossing Eco Lodge Ltd. 
Due from SEED (Sakwi) LP 
Due from SEED (Bremner Trio) LP 

1,705,053 

906,132
122,903
676,018

97,406 
-

13,278
225,595
110,958

4,808

2,157,098 

2,752,723

(595,624)

2,157,098

637,982 

171,180
388,052

78,750

1,550,062
122,748
441,931

Liabilities
Current
Bank indebtedness 
Trade and other payables 
Deferred revenue

Due to Sts'ailes 
Due to Harrison Salmon Producers Limited Partnership 
Reforestation obligation 

Partners' Capital

SDC FINANCES
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STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Earnings 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018

5,018,483 

3,181,145

1,837,338

36.6%

1,601,107

236,231

50,000
4,161

26,981
(5,104)

1,102 
7,134 
5,783
1,693

148
19,099
28,452
13,427
12,174

-
119,591
807,672
325,907

77,024
16,922
26,415
61,772

754

2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

5,989,999

4,187,479

1,802,520

30.2%

Revenue

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

Expenses

Net earnings

Gross margin as a percentage of revenue 

Administration 
Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Bad debts (recovery)
Delivery, freight and express 
Directors' fees 
Equipment rental
Dues, licenses and fees 
Food and beverage 
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Professional fees 
Program expense 
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Sub-contracts 
Supplies 
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Utilities 
Vehicle expenses

50,000
2,682

24,352
46,867

944
8,553

-
1,978

167
19,258
22,291

3,610
49,409

17,091
80,981

824,103
130,613
43,036
16,462
18,166

48,995
1,426

1,417,984

391,536

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Partners' Capital 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

Chehalis Indian Bank Economic Development Trust 
Balance, beginning of year 
Share of earnings

Sts'ailes Development Corporation 
Balance, beginning of year 
Share of earnings

(595,743) 
236,207

119
24

(359,536) 

143

(359,393) 

(987,240)
391,497

80
39

Balance, end of year

Balance, end of year

(595,743)

119

(595,624)
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STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Schedule 1 - Store & Gas Station 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

2,438,134

2,035,494

402,640

1,839,401

1,578,616

260,785

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

255,653

146,987

300
1,770
1,102
3,578

13,424
2,926

38,342
155,665

14,124
4,717
3,194

16,366
144

Expenses

Operating income (loss)

Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Delivery, freight and express 
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Utilities 
Vehicle expenses

1,060
2,213

944
3,629
9,023

478
22,145

167,560
(3,967)

3,845
488

15,864
663

223,945

36,840

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Schedule 2 - Forestry 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

2018 2017

1,300,026

1,084,376

215,649

3,045,580

2,410,900

634,680

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

180,404

35,245

-
25,211

(5,104)
299

9,995
2,201

-
-

120,654
18,213

1,851
1,142
5,728

214

Expenses

Operating income

Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Bad debts (recovery)
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Professional fees
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Sub-contracts
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Vehicle expenses

250
22,139
46,867

9,162
630
565
709

148,347
70

207
783

2,832
-

232,559

402,121
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2018 2017

272,817

-

272,817

260,102

106,074

154,028

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

177,674

95,143

5,783
829
108

10,067
146,005

14,005
482
395

Expenses

Operating income (loss)

Equipment rental
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Travel (recovery) 
Vehicle expenses

-
-

88
-

50,039
5,528
(133)

58

55,580

98,448

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Schedule 3 - Fisheries 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

2018 2017

381,834

61,275 

320,559

386,547

51,354

335,193

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

270,514

50,045

378
9,102
1,815

4,056
32,993

164,728
1,793

8,402
1,841

45,406
-

Expenses

Operating income

Dues, licenses and fees
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Professional fees
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Vehicle expenses

375
9,167
1,840

341
25,726

161,035
4,315
6,641

50
33,132

662

243,283

91,910

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Schedule 4 - Lhawathet Lalem 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)
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2018 2017

625,674

-

625,674

458,369

40,535

417,834

Sales

Cost of Sales

Gross Margin

716,864

(91,191) 

50,000
3,861
7,134
1,315

148
5,291
3,111

4,244
12,174

-
38,189

220,620
28,890

324,056
2,661
15,171

-

Expenses

Operating income

Administration
Advertising and promotion 
Directors' fees
Dues, licenses and fees
Food and beverage
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Professional fees
Program expense
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Sub-contracts
Telephone, fax and internet 
Travel 
Vehicle expenses

50,000
1,372

8,553
1,603

167
6,462
2,179
2,161

48,844
17,091

32,401
297,121
37,090

130,406
5,194

14,929
43

655,616

(237,782)

STS’AILES DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Schedule 5 - Business Development Services 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)
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NOTICE TO READER

On the basis of information provided by management, we have compiled the balance sheet of Harrison Salmon 

Producers Limited Partnership as at March 31, 2018 and the statements of earnings and partners' capital for 

the year then ended. We have not performed an audit or a review engagement in respect of these financial 

statements and, accordingly, we express no assurance thereon. Readers are cautioned that these statements 

may not be appropriate for their purposes. 

Chilliwack, British Columbia

June 6, 2018

1 - 45780 Yale Road, Chilliwack, British Columbia, V2P 2N4, Phone: (604) 792-1915, 1 (800) 444-4070

Chartered Professional Accountants

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

210,022
132,835

-

274,532

962,936

1,237,468

342,857

817,513
77,097

1,237,468

252,566

21,966
-

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

Assets 
Current 
Cash 
Trade and other receivables  
Inventory (Note 1) 

178,456
571,561
99,526

849,543

2,680,618

802,780

1,877,838

2,680,618 

1,676,211 
154,864

776,370

25,592 
818

Property and equipment 
Advances to Sts'ailes Development Limited Partnership

Liabilities
Current 
Trade and other payables 

Advances from Sts'ailes
Advances from River Select Co-Operative Ltd. (Note 3)

Partners' Capital
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1,139,075
205,102

712

1,344,889

-
21,295

107,921
1,085

105,417
-

27,664
8,637

588
895

299,806
6,421

144,294
7,892
7,247

46,809
235,796

7,087
6,334
5,237

-

1,040,425

304,464

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Earnings 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

208,251
1,272,601

-

1,480,852

565,950

914,902

2,000
1,115 

138,132
-
-

5,783
5,462
9,206

514
78

124,558 
11,385

-
6,000
11,009
41,100

147,484
21,029
28,318

5,527
7,250

Revenue
Sales 
PICFI 
Co-op Investment premium

Expenses

Net earnings

Administrative overhead 
Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Automotive
Commissions
Equipment rental
Freight
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Processing
Professional fees 
Purchases
Rentals
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Sub-contracts 
Supplies 
Travel 
Utilities 
Workshops and training

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Partners' Capital 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

Sts'ailes 
Balance, beginning of year 
Share of earnings 
 
Balance, end of year

Scowlitz First Nation 
Balance, beginning of year 
Share of earnings 

Balance, end of year

Harrison Salmon Producers GP Inc.
Balance, beginning of year
Share of earnings

Balance, end of year

482,135
457,406

939,541

482,135
457,405

939,540

(1,334)
91

1,877,838

329,918
152,217

482,135

329,918
152,217 

482,135

(1,364)
30

962,936

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
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HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities 
Operating activities 
Net earnings 
Amortization

Financing activities 
Advances from related parties

Investing activities 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Advances to related parties 
Repalment of advances to related parties

Decrease in cash resources 
Cash resources, beginning of year 

Cash resources, end of year 

914,902
138,132

1,053,034

(31,566) 
210,022

178,456

4,444

(996,829)
(77,767)

-

(1,074,596)

(438,729)
(99,527)
523,808

1,038,586

304,464
107,921

412,385

(58,119)
268,141

210,022

1,425

(372,717)
-

87,265

(285,452)

(96,235)
11,449

(101,691)

225,908

Changes in working capital accounts 
Trade and other receivables
Inventory
Trade and other payables

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

HARRISON SALMON PRODUCERS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018

2018
Net book  

value
Accumulated 
amortizationCost

Net book  
value

2017

2017

1. Inventory 
 
Ikura Inventory
Fillet Inventory
H&G Inventory

2. Property, plant and equipment

3. Advances from related parties

482,135
457,406
939,541

0

387,026
573

334,613
953,999

1,676,211

130,806
2,089

268,398
40,309

441,602

517,832
2,662

603,011 
994,308

2,117,813

329,918
152,217

482,135

0

360,449 
716

268,939
187,410

817,514

Inventory at March 31, 2018 is held by River Select C0-operative Ltd.

Amortization expense included in the financial statements totals $138,132 {2016 -$107,921). 

Property, plant, and equipment is initially recorded at costs. Amortized is provided using declining balance methods and rates 
intended to amortize the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives: 

Advances from River Select Co-operative Ltd., represent the cumulative profit and loss generated from the service agreements. 
River Select Co-operative maintains any cash generated to support on-going production. The advance payable bears no interest 
and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Automotive
Computer equipment
Equipment
Building improvments

• Automotive- 15%
• Computer Equipment- 20%
• Equipment- 20%
• Building Improvements- 5%

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)
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NOTICE TO READER

On the basis of information provided by management, we have compiled the balance sheet of Sasquatch Crossing 

Eco Lodge Ltd. as at March 31, 2018 and the statement of loss and deficit for the year then ended. We have not 

performed an audit or a review engagement in respect of these financial statements and, accordingly, we express 

no assurance thereon. Readers are cautioned that these statements may not be appropriate for their purposes. 

Chilliwack, British Columbia

June 6, 2018

1 - 45780 Yale Road, Chilliwack, British Columbia, V2P 2N4, Phone: (604) 792-1915, 1 (800) 444-4070

Chartered Professional Accountants

SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE LTD. 
Balance Sheet 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

12,437 
-

12,437

2,791,985

2,804,422

5,782

3,759,838

100
(955,516)

(955,416)

2,804,422

Assets 
Current 
Cash 
Goods and Service Tax receivable

20,318 
39

20,357

2,786,146 

2,765,789

6,362

3,795,504

100
(1,009,458) 

(1,009,358) 

2,786,146

3,574,112
215,030

3,574,112
179,944

Property, plant and equipment 

Liabilities
Current 
Trade and other payables 

Due to Sts'ailes
Due to Sts'ailes Development Limited Partnership

Shareholders' Deficit
Share capital
Deficit 

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)
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SASQUATCH CROSSING ECO LODGE LTD. 
Statement of Loss and Deficit 

For the year ended MARCH 31, 2018

2018 2017

48,101 
5,455
2,516

235

56,307 

86,145

(29,838)
28,515

(58,353)
(897,163) 

(955,516) 

2,162
594

3,928
2,354
1,698
2,100
7,844
12,117

26,594
16,811
4,071

-
5,872

59,720
8,344
3,150

405

71,619

99,366

(27,747)
26,195

(53,942) 
(955,516) 

(1,009,458) 

4,691
320

3,928
2,590
2,880
2,657
7,063

18,624
30,217
16,397

3,012
202

6,785

Revenue
Bed and breakfast
Catering
Meeting room rental
Miscellaneous

Expenses

Loss before amortization
Amortization

Net loss
Deficit, beginning of the year

Deficit, end of year

Advertising and promotion 
Business taxes an licences
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Office  
Professional fees 
Property taxes
Repairs and maintenance 
Salaries, wages and benefits 
Supplies 
Telephone, fax and internet
Travel 
Utilities 

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(Unaudited - see Notice to Reader)

This Annual Report is also available on our website: 

www.stsailes.com/annual-reports

Sts’ailes
4690 Salish Way, Agassiz, BC V0M1A1

t (604) 796.2116  w stsailes.com
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